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(In thousands, except per share data and percentages)

OPERATING RESULTS
Netsales . ....... ... ... .. ..
Operatingincome .. ........ ... ... ....
Earnings from continuing cperations . .. ... ..
Earnings from discontinued operations . ... ..
Netearnings ......... ... . ... ......
Earnings per share —diluted
From continuing operations . ..........
From discontinued operations . ... ......
Netearnings ......................

BALANCE SHEET DATA

Working capital .. ........ .. ... L
Totalassets ........ ... . . ... oL
Total long-termdebt .. ... ... ... . ... .
Shareholders’ equity . ......... ... .. ....
Invested capital® ........ . .. ... L.

CASH FLOW DATA

Depreciation and amortization ............
EBITDA*
Net cash flow provided by operating activities
Capital expenditures ... ... ............
Free cash flow*** . . ... ... .. ... .. ......

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Gross margin ... ... e
Operatingmargin . ...... ... ..........
Return on average shareholders’ equity . ... ..
Return on average invested capital . ... ... ..
Long-term debt to total capitat . . ... .... ...

OTHER DATA

Dividends paid pershare . ...............
Book value per share . ... ... [
Average shares outstanding—diluted .. ... ..
Number of shareholders ... .......... ...
Number of employees . ............. . ...

Year Ended
March 1,
2003

$ 771,839
41,694
26,340

3,575
29,915

0.93
0.13
1.06

51,035
382,841
47,258
178,210
253,213

24,271
65,965
42,710
12,833
29,877

24.1%

5.4%
17.1%
11.5%
21.0%

0.225
6.55
28,347
7.1
5.3

Year Ended
March 2,
2002

$ 802,315
44,127
26,142

26,142

0.91

0.91

47,845
409,116
69,098
170,934
265,899

28,051
72,178
50,873
10,466
40,407

23.4%
5.5%
16.4%
9.6%
28.8%

0.215
6.03
28,817
8.3

5.3

*Long-term debt + fong-term self-insurance reserves + other fong-term liabilities + shareholders’ equity

**Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

***Net cash flow provided by operating activities - capital expenditures

NM = Not meaningful

09
10
12
12
13

Percent
Change

- 4%
-6%
1%
NM
14%

2%
NM
16%

7%
-6%
-32%
4%
-5%

-13%
-9%
-16%
23%
- 26%

5%
9%
-2%
-14%
0%
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Apocgee excels at adding value o glass, that transparent material
peopie generaily look through. But 2 closer ook at giass reveals

n

Apcgee’s sirengins. Througn compiex precesses, we 2dc ultra thin
coatings to plain architeciural glass o create coiors and energy
efficiency. We alsc laminate layers 1o create windows that help
orotect against hurricanes and bomb blasts. Our procuct cheices aliow
architects to create cistinctive lcoks for tuiicings with “names; as
well as for schoois, hospitals, airports and sperts arenes. Cur craftsmen
then design, suild and install curtainwal: and windows using cur
coated glass and metal. Other technical coatings reduce the reflectivity
of televisions and nicture framing glass, and profect family photos
and art against the sun’s damaging rays. And that plain glass is
shapec into thousands of windshields that are then instelled by our
highly trained technicians. Apogee centinues ¢ leverage these
xtensive benefits our products bring o customers, tc defiver imoroved
inancial performance and greater value to our shareholders.
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I am pleased by what we were able to
achieve this past year, despite the slowed
economy and pricing pressures that
impacted all of our segments. We grew
operating earnings 2 percent to $0.93 per
share compared to $0.91 in fiscal 2002, on
slightly lower revenues of §771.8 million.
Recognizing that we need to create
| shareholder value even in this depressed

stock market, we emploved our
continuing strong cash flow to further
reduce long-term debt in fiscal 2003,
' paying off $21.9 million to end the vear
| at $47.3 million; increase our dividend
w 5 percent; and fund $18.0 million in
' share repurchases.
! As we had expected, the ongoing
i slowdown in the U.S. economy impacted
our architectural segment this past vear,
as revenues and earnings were both down
slightly. What we did not fully anticipate
! and what had the biggest impact on
earnings were the extremely competitive
conditions in the auto replacement glass
market that led to significant price
: decreases. Earnings here were half of
what they were in fiscal 2002 on 9 percent
lower revenues.

Somewhat offsetting these challenges
were the significant improvement in the

large-scale optical segment and our
commitment to improving operations
and cutung costs. The large-scale optical
segment increased revenues 18 percent
and moved from an operating loss to
earnings. Our Six Sigma/Lean business
improvement initiative yielded $12.7
million in ongoing expense savings, and
we made the necessary tough decisions
to cut costs in segments where market
conditions deteriorated. We reduced
annual costs in the architectural and auto
glass segments by approximately $8.5
million late in the fourth quarter of last
year and early in the first quarter of
fiscal 2004, and we will make more
reductions if market conditions warrant.

EXECUTING OUR STRATEGY. During
fiscal 2003, we contnued to execute the
strategy for improving and growing our
businesses that I described last year.
Our strategy starts with gaining control
within our businesses to deliver more
predictable results, followed by
strengthening our business platform to
optimize profitability, and finally
positoning our business portfolio for
long-term sustainable growth. Yes, our
growth efforts have been hampered by




the stalled economy, but we continued

to progress on this three-part strategy.
The improvement in large-scale optical
segment performance is exactly what
gaining control to deliver more
predictable results is all about. Our
largest challenge is to bring predictability
to the auto glass segment.

Six Sigma is an important tool for
strengthening our business platform to
optimize profitability. I'm pleased that
six of our eight businesses achieved
several stringent objectives in fiscal 2003
to win my first Six Sigma Chairman’s
Awards. Our successful Six Sigma
improvement projects are creating
additional capacity so we won'’t need
significant capital to grow our businesses
in the short-term. To ensure we continue
embedding the Six Sigma continuous
business improvement philosophy in our
culture, I've charged our businesses to
train 20 percent of our workforce, or
1,000 people today, in these critical
tools. By the end of fiscal 2004, we’ll be
halfway toward this five-year goal.

We continued to make progress on
positioning our business portfolio for
growth during these difficult times.
Thanks to our corporate marketing
initiative, we now have a clearer focus
on our market opportunities. Our
architectural segment is outperforming
the commercial construction market,
winning targeted projects and seeing
success in penetrating new hurricane
and protective glazing markets. We are
seeing ongoing growth in our large-scale
optical businesses through new products
and deeper market penetration. And
finally, we are beginning to grow retail
auto glass share with success in the fleet
business, which is less cyclical. The
improvements we've been making and

our positioning should provide
sustainable momentum for overall growth
in both revenues and earnings, particularly
when conditions in the commercial
construction industry improve.

The significant improvement in our
financial strength in the past few years
also 15 Instrumental to our ability to
grow. Our strong cash flow is enabling
us to continue to reduce our debt and
pay dividends.

MARKET DAMPENS ARCHITECTURAL
PROGRESS. Commercial construction
market forecasters have again pushed
back the industry’s recovery, now to
early calendar 2004, In our business,
some committed projects have been
shifted to later schedules, new projects
have not closed, and margins are
compressing due to price erosion and a
shift to more institutional and smaller
projects. We feel we have the factors that
we can influence under control. We also
are working to strengthen our industry
position through stellar quality and
service, market-leading products that are
required by new legislation, including
energy-efficient, hurricane and
protective glazing, and our renovation
services initiative. When the market
turns, we can easily boost shipments
since we are currently at 60 percent of
architectural capacity.

The auto glass segment will remain
under pressure throughout fiscal 2004
due to pricing pressures resulting from
industry overcapacity. In retail, we
remain focused on growing units,
starting with the fleet and collision
markets and extending into the
insurance industry, and reducing costs.
The performance in large-scale optical is
expected to continue to be strong,

building on our progress and success in
fiscal 2003 in penetrating the growing
projection television market and
converting the custom picture framing
market to value-added glass.

A CHALLENGING YEAR. We expect to
grow revenues slightly in fiscal 2004,
despite the challenges we face. The
first half and especially the first quarter
will be more difficult, with growth
expected in the second half. For us to
match our fiscal 2003 earnings, we
will need to see improved economic
conditions and a more significant
improvement in commercial
construction than currently anticipated.

We remain committed to creating
value for our shareholders by continuing
to strengthen our already solid financial
condition. We would like to assure our
shareholders that Apogee has historically
conducted business honestly and
ethically, and holds to high standards of
fiscal accountability. While we are taking
steps to officially implement particular
provisions of the new Sarbanes-Oxley
Act and related financial reporting
regulations, we have operated consistent
with the objective of the new rules.

I would like to thank our sharcholders
for their support and our employees
for their commitment and hard work,
especially during these challenging times.

=

Russell Huffer
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
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SEGMENTS AT-A-GLANCE

AUTONOTIVE
REPLACEMENT
GLASS AND
SZRVICES
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PRODUCTS AND SZRVICES

i CUSTOMERS

Architects specify

T WARKETS

. Primarily U.S. commercial

all preducts construction
Viracon Coated high-performance architectural Glazing contractors, Also serves Pacific Rim,
" glass, featuring wide color choices, silk skylight manufacturers, . Central and South America,
screening and energy efficiency; window manufacturers and Africa internaticnally;
" fabricated into insulating units and/or more than half of sales
laminated products for hurricane and historically for Class A
security protection, and sound control office buildings
Harmon, Inc. Building glass installation, repair, General contractors, . Commercial and institutional
+ replacement and renovation construction managers, building - buildings up to 20 stories tall
owners, property managers for a variety of market sectors
Wausau Engineer-to-order and configure-to- Glazing contractors, erectors, Education, health care,
Window and * order aluminum window and installers . government, corporate offices,
Wall Systems . curtainwall systems : high rise condominiums
Linetec Paints and anodizes aluminum window Window companies, extruders, Architectural aluminum

* frames and other building materials;
' paints plastic interior shutters

Viracon/Curvlite

| Manufactures auto replacement
- windshields and windows; RV and bus
. OEM windshields

glazing contractors, Polywood
Shutters

Auto glass wholesalers
and retailers; RV and bus

. manufacturers

Harmon
AutoGlass

Replaces windshields and windows;
repairs windshields

Insurance companies, agents
and customers; auto owners;
fleets; dealers; auctions

toli-coating finishing;
commercial finishing,
including for interior shutters

 U.S. automobile
' aftermarket/replacement
] windshields, windows

PPG Auto Glass,
LLC (owned 34%
by Apogee)*

Wholesale distribution of auto
replacement windshields and windows

Retail installers

Tru Vue Manufactures and/or distributes " Glass and matboard: mass i North America, Europe
proprietary value-added picture framing merchandisers, distributors, and Australia/New
‘ glass and acrylic with UV, anti-reflective independent framers and Zealand custom framing;
and/or security properties; plain framing  : chains, museums; pre-framed preframed: home decor
glass; regular and preservation framing art: sales agencies, mail order
~ matboard; designs and assembles catafogs, department and
pre-framed art . furniture stores, hospitality and
" restaurant chains
Viratec . Optical coatings, including front-surface OEM projection television, . Projection televisions,

mirrors, proprietary anti-reflective glass
and acrylic; laminated privacy filters

flatbed scanner and computer

" monitor filter manufacturers
~and distributors; Tru Vue

. art framing, flatbed

scanners, CRT desktiop

- filters and other

consumer electronics

i and display markets

*Reported in equity in affiliates

e \ REVENUES
\ O Architectural products and services 60%
| .. Automotive replacement glass and services 30%
Large-scale optical technologies 10%




MARKET SIZE, QUTLOOK

Calendar 2003 U.S. curtainwall, architectural window, storefront
market totals approximately $8.13 billion. Apogee serves office,
education, health care and other institutional sectors, which
total about $4.2 billion and generally are higher-margin niches
requiring value-added products. The office sector, usually
Apogee’s largest, has declined almost 40% since 2000, while
the education, health care and other institutional sectors have
increased slightly or remained flat, according to F.W. Dodge,

a building research firm. Industry forecasters generally expect
the commercial construction market overall to begin growing
early in calendar 2004.

Current annual U.S. market is approximately 11 million
windshield units and 3.5 million side and back windows,
Demand for replacement auto glass decreased 5% last year,
compared with a 4% increase in fiscal 2002, according to
market data. At the same time, market pricing has been
declining as insurance companies seek greater volume discounits,
growth in foreign windshields has created overcapacity, and
windshield repairs have been increasing at a faster rate than
higher-margin replacements.

The current custom framing glass market in the United States
totals approximately 200 million square feet, with the value-
added portion about 45 million square feet. Although the
custom framing market has slowed with the economy according
to industry ieaders and trade associations, Tru Vue continues to
grow its value-added glass 30% annually by converting piain
glass to value-added, a trend that is expected to continue.

POSITION, SHARES

Apogee businesses have leadership positions, but only have a 10.5% overall share in

i this fragmented market,

. Approximately 11% share of the calendar 2002 $1.72 billion North American

i

i

architectural glass fabrication market (based on F.W. Dodge, Ducker Research and
Viracon data). Viracon leads the high and high-middle performance niches of this
market (20% of total) with a 55% share. These niches are expected to grow to 30%
of the total architectural glass fabrication market by 2004 as the looks and energy
efficiency of value-added glass are increasingly incorporated in buildings.

. Leading U.S. full-service glazing company, with approximately 2% share within the

small to mid-size construction projects market, Within 14 markets served, up to 33%

| share, with average of 11%.

Approximately 2% share of non-residential window and curtainwall niche,

. Approximately 5% share of architectural finishing market.

Approximately 6% of aftermarket windshield manufacturing market.

Although the third largest auto replacement glass retail services company, Harmon'’s
share of this fragmented $2.3 billion (Harmon AutoGlass estimate based on A.M. Best
data) market is only approximately 5%.

Largest wholesale windshield distributor in U.S.

. Approximately 28% share of the custom framing glass market and approximately
- 60% share of the niche that has been converted to value-added glass.

Fiscal 2004 projected serviced market of more than $100
million {(based on numerous research and industry sources),
U.S. projection TV market growing at least 20% annually
according to NPD Intellect and manufacturers. In addition, only
5-10% of projection TVs have acrylic anti-reflective shields,

_ which is expected to grow to 20-25% this year. Art glass
market expected to grow about 30% annually, consistent with
Tru Vue’s conversion rate for plain glass to value-added.
Markets for flatbed scanners and CRT filters are mature.

CPERATING [NCOME

Approximately 33% share of fiscal 2004 projected serviced market,

O Architectural products and services
= Automotive replacement glass and services
Large-scale optical technologies

74%
18%
8%

Apogee Enterprises, inc. 5



ARCHITECTURAL PRODUCTS

KENTUCKY CENTER FOR THE ARTS, LOUISVILLE -~ HARMON, INC., VIRACON, RENOVATION. @SCOTT SLUSHER

\ND SERVICES

POPLAR POINT COMMONS, CONCORD, NC - VIRACON, NEW REFLECTIVE,
ENERGY-EFFICIENT COATING.

The architectural segment leveraged
operational improvements and product
and service leadership, ranging from
wide aesthetic choices to energy-efficient,
hurricane and protective glazing and
enhanced customer service, to outperform
the commercial construction industry
this past year. These strengths, Apogee’s
solid financials and a current capacity
utilization of 60 percent position the
architectural segment to excel when
construction rebounds. Market
improvement is expected early in calendar
2004, according to industry forecasters.

Conditions in the commercial
construction market declined throughout
the year, as projects in progress were
delayed and new ones were not initiated
on schedule. To offset these conditions,
the architectural businesses reduced costs
by $4 million annually in the fourth quarter
of last year and the first quarter of fiscal
2004 and are prepared to make additional
cuts if market conditions warrant.

In fiscal 2003, revenues for the
segment were down 4 percent to $458.8
million, while operating income decreased
7 percent for the vear to $32.1 million.

The architectural segment comprised

60 percent of Apogee’s total revenues,
while its operating income contribution
was 74 percent. The outlook for this year
is for architectural revenues to be flat

to slightly improved compared to fiscal
2003 sales.

IMPROYED SERVICE, NEW PRCDUCTS
PROVIDE EDGE. Last year, buildings with
“names” and other Class A office
buildings, a traditionally strong Apogee
market, were the most severely impacted
by the construction slowdown, so the
architectural businesses focused more

on smaller office buildings, and the
education, health care and government
sectors where there are pricing pressures
and more competition. Recognizing the
down environment, Apogee’s businesses
made the needed moves to optimize
profitability. They successfully reduced
lead times to better serve current
customers and enter new markets,
introduced new products and focused
on legistatively mandated solutions to
nearly offset the market downturn.

Viracon’s reduction in customer lead
times from 20 weeks two years ago to
three to five weeks today is allowing the
fabricator to better service smaller
projects, including skylight work and
window companies such as Wausau.

By reducing its lead times for education
products to eight weeks, Wausau benefited
in this competitive market; it plans
additional decreases this year to further
strengthen its market position.

New product development ranged
from reflective energy-efficient coatings
and expanded fabrication services from
Viracon and hurricane glazing products
from Harmon, Inc., to a host of new
offerings from Wausau, which has
mntroduced or updated 60 percent of its
window and curtainwall lines in the past
five years.

REGULATIQNS DRIVING DEMAND. By the
end of calendar 2003, half of the states
are expected to have adopted a national
commercial building code that mandates
more energy-efficient windows and
hurricane glazing in areas prone to
hurricanes. Since Florida’s more stringent




NYU STUDENT HOUSING, NEW YORK, NY - V/AUSAU, ENERGY EFFICIENT. @PAUL WARCHOL

SAN FRANCISCO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT, CA ~ VIRACON, ENERGY EFFICIENT, SILK SCREENED. «12003 RICHARD BARNES

Despite the stalled U.S. economy and related slowdown in commercial consiruction, Apogee’s
architectural businesses, with their custom, market-leading value-added products and services,
continued to outperform their industry. The market challenges, though, led to lower earnings

for the company's largest and most profitable segment in fiscal 2003.

hurricane code went into effect early in
calendar 2002, Apogee has seen increased
demand for hurricane products, and today
is tracking approximately §100 million

in potential projects. Hurricane products
illustrate the benefit of value-added
products-— projects incorporating these
glazing options have nearly twice the
revenues of normal projects. Although
implementation of the new codes is
inconsistent, demand for these products 1s
expected to increase significantly in coming
years. Apogee is well positioned to meet
market needs since nearly all of Viracon’s
coated glass is energy efficient and
Harmon, Inc. and Wausau are developing
a variety of hurricane systems incorporating
laminated glass from Viracon.

The government is also requiring
blast-resistant glass in new or expanded
facilities, such as courthouses, offices and
airports, and terrorism has spurred
interest among other commercial
customers for protective glazing. Apogee
businesses are supplying high value-add
protective products and systems for
several governmental projects, including
a major airport in the Far East, and also

for two office buildings housing financial
services companies.

Geographic growth also benefited
Apogee in fiscal 2003, as Harmon, Inc.
opened an office to serve the south Florida
hurricane market and added renovation
services in four markets. Renovation,
including exterior improvements to
windows and curtainwall being provided
by Harmon, helps building owners
increase rental rates, lower vacancies,
reduce maintenance and energy costs, and
address environmental concerns such as
mold and air quality. Harmon’s business
model is stronger with a mix of new
construction, maintenance and renovation
services, and 1t plans to grow by adding
renovation and building glass maintenance
components in markets without these
services. Longer-term it also plans to
expand into new markets beyond the 14
served today.

Apogee’s brands often are preferred
by architects, general and glazing
contractors, and building owners because
of product choices and quality, on-time
deliveries, excellent project management

and expertise in helping customers solve
technical, logistical and budget problems.

POSITIONED FOR GROWTH. These
strengths and more will drive the Apogee
architectural businesses this year. Wausau
continues to expand the products offered
via its configure-to-order computer
system that leverages its valuable
engineering expertise to deliver quality
custom windows faster and more
competitively priced. Viracon will add
additional coating products and services,
while it also targets international markets
positioned for improved growth, such

as China, Korea, South Africa, Australia
and the Dominican Republic. And
Linetec, which paints and anodizes
aluminum and plastic building materials,
1s focused on growing its architectural
and commercial customer base.

The segment’s businesses are now
much stronger operationally and
competitively than they were just two
years ago. When the commercial
construction industry returns to more
normal market conditions, Apogee is
positioned to be successful.

Apogee Enterprises, Inc.




AUTOMOTIVE REPLACEMENT GLASS AND SERVICES

D Challenging industry conditions, including overcapacity and
pricing pressures, led to significantly lower earnings in the auto
glass segment compared to the prior year. With markets unlikely
to improve in the short term, operational improvements and

xpense reductions, as well as unit growth in retail will be key
to bringing predictability to the segment.

The auto glass segment continues to
be Apogee’s most difficult, as significant
pricing pressures newly impacted an
already soft industry in fiscal 2003.
Lower prices were experienced in all
Apogee auto glass businesses, and put
additional demands on the retail
business with its ongoing challenges.
Despite the reduced performance, the
auto glass segment remains a source of
cash flow for Apogee.

Revenues for the segment are
expected to be flat in fiscal 2004, as
slight growth 1n retail 15 offset by lower
pricing for manufacturing.

MANUFACTURING [MPROVES
OPERATIONS. Viracon/Curvlite,
Apogee’s manufacturing business, made
significant operational improvements

this past year, enabling it to overcome a

portion of the lowered pricing for its
aftermarket windshields.
Viracon/Curvlite sells the majority of
its windshields to PPG Industries, Inc.,
which relies on its short-run capability
to produce smaller volume parts.
Viracon/Curvlite is focused on growing
unit volume this year by selling more
auto windshields to other customers
and by Increasing sales to recreational
vehicle and bus manufacturers.

PPG Auto Glass, LLC, the wholesale
distribution joint venture owned 34
percent by Apogee, fought the industry
price erosion last year by cutting costs.

SHARE GAIN KEY FOR RETAIL. Share
gain remains the focus of Harmon
AutoGlass, Apogee’s retail automobile
windshield repair and replacement unit,
which saw progress late in the year

although at lower prices. To combat the
ongoing competitive environment, the
business also cut annual operating costs
by approximately $4.5 million late in the
year, including a reduction in staff.
Harmon achieved initial success in
its efforts to increase share in the fleet
market, which is more efficient
operationally and less cyclical than other
sectors of the industry. National
insurance companies are a sales and
service focus for the retail business this
vear, with the goal being improved
services in order to maintain and gain
share with these customers. Harmon is
also working to increase its repair
business, a lower-cost alternative favored
by many insurers.




LARGE-SCALE OPTICAL TECHNOLCGIES

REFLECTIVE

NON-GLARE

A focus on profitable product and market opportunities and

improvements in retail markets led to a turnaround for the large-
scale optical segment in fiscal 2003. The segment achieved strong
profit and revenue growth this past year, recovering from an
operating loss in fiscal 2002. These businesses are delivering the
value demanded by their customers and consumers.

The large-scale optical segment’s
success in operational improvements,
introduction of new optically coated
products, and continued conversion of
value-added picture framing glass was
evident in its significantly improved
performance in fiscal 2003. Growth is
expected to continue this year, with
revenues increasing 8 to 10 percent.

GLASS CONVERSION CONTINUES.

Tru Vue’s strategy of converung larger
retailers and distributors to value-added
glass continues to prove successful, even
in a slowed custom picture framing
market. Value-added glass sales again
grew more than 30 percent, led by
Michaels Stores, Inc., which converted
two more distribution centers. Michaels,
the nation’s largest art and craft retailer,
now offers only glass that protects

pictures and art from deteriorating in
sunlight through three of its five
distribution centers. Customers of
framers who have converted to these
preservation products then make a
visual choice between reflective or
non-glare glass.

Tru Vue 1s also focusing on expanding
sales in Australia, New Zealand, Canada
and Europe. To meet growing demand
for its value-added products, Tru Vue
plans to double its non-glare glass
capacity in fiscal 2004. Operational
improvements at Tru Vue are benefiting
the glass product line as well as its
smaller matboard and pre-framed art
businesses.

PROJECTICN TV MARKET A WINNER.
Strong penetration of the growing
projection television market was

instrumental to Viratec turning significant
losses into an operating profit in fiscal
2003. Last year, about half of Viratec’s
revenues were from sales of front-surface
mirrors and acrylic shields with an anti-
reflective coating for this market, which
it entered just over a year ago. Customers
include Sony Electronics Inc. and
Hitachi, and other manufacturers are
turning to Viratec for its industry-
leading products in fiscal 2004.

Ant-reflective art framing glass for
Tru Vue is also a growth market for
Viratec. Its remaining revenues come
from privacy filters and the mature
markets for flatbed scanners and
anti-reflective filters for desktop CRT
monitors. Fiscal 2004 efforts will also
focus on further exploiting current
growth markets and on additional
operational improvements.

Apogee Enterprises, Inc.




FY 2003:

The following information shouid be read in conjunction with Item 7 — Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations and Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of Form 10-K for fiscal 2003.

(In thousands, except per share data and percentages)* 2003
Net Sal8S L . i e e e $ 771,839
Gross profit .. e 186,067
Operating inCOMe . . .. ..o e e 41,694
Earnings from continuing operations .. .......... ... ... 26,340
Net earnings (1oss) . .. .. ... o e 28,915
Earnings (loss) per share — basic

From continuing operations . ...................... 0.96

Net earnings (10ss) ... .. .. . o 1.09

Earnings (loss) per share — diluted

From continuing operations . ........ ... ... ... .. 0.93

Netearnings (loss) ........ .. .. . i 1.06
Current @ssets . ... $ 171463
Total @ssets . .o . i e e 382,841
Current liabilities . . . ... ... . . e 120,428
longtermdebt ........ ... . ... 47,258
Shareholders’ equity . ...... ... ... e 178,210
Depreciation and amortization . . .......... ... .. ... ... $ 24,271
Capital expenditures . ... ... . . .. e 12,833
Dividends .. ... e 6,246
Grossmargin — %o ..o e 24.1
Operatingmargin — % ... ... . e 5.4
Effectivetaxrate — % ... ... .. . o 28.0
Working capital ... ... . . e 51,035
Currentratio ... .. e 1.4:1
Long-term debt as % of invested capital *** . ............ 18.7
Return on:

Average shareholders’ equity ~ % ... ... .. o 17.1

Average invested capital - % ......... ... .. ..., 11.5

Average total assets — % ... ... e 7.6
Dividend yield atyear-end =% . .......... ... ... ... . .. 2.8
Book value pershare . ...... .. ... . . . . . . e 6.55
hFir_i_(_:eieaﬂrning»sﬁrzAa‘Eiq itﬁygaﬁr-enrg:l‘ RN 8:1

*Share and per share data have been adjusted for the fiscal 1997 stock dividend.

**Fiscal 1994 figures reflect the cumulative effect of a change in accounting for income taxes, which increased net earnings by $0.5 million, or 2 cents per share.

***| ong-term debt + long-term self-insurance reserves + other long-term liabilities + shareholders’ equity
NM = Not meaningful

$

$

$

2002

802,315
187,728
44,127
26,142
26,142

0.94
0.94

0.91
0.91

175,084
409,116
127,239

69,098
170,934

28,051
10,466
6,078

23.4
5.5
31.0
47,845
1.4:1
26.0

16.4
9.6
6.2
1.9

6.03

13:1

$

$

$

2001

865,200
178,997
31,894
13,361
15,002

0.48
0.54

0.48
0.54

175,191
432,679
137,437
104,206
148,292

34,606
14,823
5,834

20.7
3.7
39.9
37,754
1.3:1
376

10.5
5.0
33
2.3

5.33

17:1

$

$

$

2000

840,488
167,235
19,418
3,071
12,175

0.11
0.44

0.11
0.44

214,422
481,154
135,397
164,371
137,772

33,019
44,025
5,833

19.9
2.3
50.8
79,025
1.6:1
50.2

9.1
3.7
2.6
4.2
4.97
11:1

$

$

$

1999

788,062
170,415
43,352
20,245
25,233

0.73
.01

0.73
0.91

204,308
466,389
119,796
165,097
130,664

25,798
77,392
5,666

21.6
55
37.6
84,512
1.7:1
51.0

21.0
8.3
5.8
2.4

4.73

10:1
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Return on:

{In thousands, except per share data and percentages)* 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993
RISULTS FROW OPERATIONS DATA
Netsales ....... ... ... .. .. . ... $ 731,004 $ 642226 $ 567,823 $ 516022 $ 426400 $ 367,878
Grossprofit . ... Lo 165,139 143,761 116,426 102,400 84,184 71,141
Operatingincome . ........ .. ......... 45,659 44,628 34,729 31,535 23,803 8,779
Earnings from continuing operations .. ..... 24,114 26,827 20,656 19,160 16,279 6,657
Net earnings (loss) ................... (51,055) 26,220 17,836 13,050 3,833 4,514
Earnings (loss) per share — basic
From continuing operations . .. ........ 0.87 0.98 0.76 0.72 0.62 0.25
Net earnings (1058) . . ............... (1.84) c.s6 0.66 0.49 0.14 0.17
Earnings (loss) per share - diluted
From continuing operations . .. ... ... .. 0.85 0.86 0.76 0.71 0.61 0.25
Net earnings (loss) .. ............... (1.80) 0.83 0.65 0.48 0.14 0.17
BALANCE SHEZT DATA
Currentassets .. ..................... $ 206,858 $ 159,095 $ 149,414 $ 155608 $ 123,301 $ 102,869
Total assets . .......... . ... .. .. ..., 405,526 410,522 327,233 317,085 257,877 213,372
Current liabilities . .......... ... ...... 97,750 86,178 83,574 90,876 92,536 61,702
Longtermdebt ......... ... ... ... .. 151,967 127,640 79,102 80,566 35,688 28,419
Shareholders’ equity .. ................ 109,600 172,150 138,922 124,628 114,062 112,336
CASX FLOYW DATA
Depreciation and amortization . .......... $ 22463 $ 17860 $ 13,122 $ 11,972 $ 12,423 $ 12,344
Capital expenditures . ................. 37,892 34,203 20,038 22,603 11,447 6,393
Dividends . ........ .. i i 5,251 4,806 4,453 4,154 3,841 3,584
Grossmargin = % ... .. 226 22.4 20.5 19.8 19.7 19.3
Operatingmargin - % ................ 6.2 6.9 6.1 6.1 5.6 2.4
Effective taxrate - % ............. ... 37.4 315 354 35.1 32.6 28.8
Working capital . ... ... ... .. 109,108 72,916 65,840 684,732 30,765 41,167
Currentratio .......... ... . ... ... .. 2.1:1 1.8:1 1.8:1 1.7:1 1.3:1 1.7:1
Long-term debt as % of invested capital*** . . 53.1 384 32.5 35.6 21.6 18.7
Average shareholders’ equity - % ... ... (36.2) 16.9 13.5 10.9 3.4 4.0
Average invested capital - % ......... (16.7) S.2 7.6 6.7 2.4 3.0
Average total assets — % ............ (12.5) 7.1 5.5 4.5 1.6 2.1
Dividend yield at year-end — % .. ........ 15 0.8 1.7 1.9 2.0 2.3
Book value pershare .................. 3.99 6.17 5.14 4.64 4.28 4.26
.......... NM 21:1 15:1 18:1 50:1 34:1

Price/earnings ratio at year-end

Apogee Enterprises, Inc. 11
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BOARD OF DIRECTCRS

Bernard P. Aldrich, 53 !2
President and

Chief Executive Officer
Rimage Corporation

Robert L. Edwards, 47 **
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and
Chief Administrative Officer
Imation Corporation

Donaid W. Goldfus, 69 3
Retired Chairman of the Board

Barbara B. Grogan, 55 '?
Chairman and President
Western industrial Contractors

Harry A. Hammerly, 69 ¢
Retired Executive Vice President
3M Company

J. Patrick Horner, 53 '
Chairman
The Horner Group

Russell Ruffer, 53
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

James L. Martineau, 62 ¢
Retired Executive Vice President

Stephen C. Mitchell, 53 22
President and

Chief Operating Officer
The Knight Group, LLC

Laurence J. Niederhofer, 70 **
Retired Chief Executive Officer
Apogee Wausau Group

FORWARD-LCOKING STATEMENTS

Ray C. Richelsen, 61 2
Retired Executive Vice President
3M Company

Michael E. Shannon, 66 *2*
Retired Chairman of the Board
Ecolab, Inc.

! Audit Committee

2 Compensation Committee

3 Corporate Governance Committee
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Russell Huffer, 53
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Michael B. Clauer, 46
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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Executive Vice President

Larry D. Stordahl, 60
Executive Vice President

Patricia A. Beithon, 49
General Counsel and Secretary

Gary R. Johnson, 41
Vice President and Treasurer

James S. Porter, 42
Vice President of Strategy
and Planning

APOGEE BUSINESSES
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and Services
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Minneapolis, MN
Johin L. Frye

President
Additional Locations:
Atlanta, GA
Baltimore, MD
Chicago, IL
Cincinnati, OH
Cleveland, OH
Denver, CO
Detroit, Ml
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Indianapolis, IN
Orlande, FL
South Bend, IN
Tampa, FL

LERSETEE
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Rick A. Marshall

President
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Villa Rica, GA
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“The Leader in Glass Fabricacion™
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President
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Statesboro, GA
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Wausau, Wl
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President

2ss

53]
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Joseph T. Deckman
President
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There are more than 600
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Owatonna, MN
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McCook, IL
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President
Additional Location:
Orlando, FL
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Faribauit, MN
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President

This discussion contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements reflect the

Company’s current views with respect to future events and financial performance. The words “believe,

"o« "ou

expect,

anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” "forecast,

"o

project,”

"should” and similar expressions are intended to identify "forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
All forecasts and projections in this document are “forward-looking statements,” and are based on management’s current expectations or beliefs of the Company’s

near-term results, based on current information available pertaining to the Company, including the risk factors noted below.

The Company wishes to caution investors that any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Company are subject to uncertainties and other factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially from such statements. These uncertainties and other risk factors include, but are not limited to, those noted below.
There can be no assurances that Apogee’s architectural segment, which serves high-end markets with value-added products, will not be further impacted by the
continued slowed economy. In addition, there can be no assurances that Harmon AutoGlass will reverse its foss of market share or overcome pricing pressures in the
challenging auto replacement glass market. There can be no assurances that PPG Auto Glass, Apogee’s automotive reptacement glass distribution joint venture with
PPG Industries, will achieve favorable long-term operating results. There also can be no assurances that the large-scale optical segment businesses will continue to

Increase revenues year-over-year,

A number of other factors should be considered in conjunction with this report’s forward-looking statements, any discussion of operations or results by the Company
or its representatives and any forward-looking discussion, as well as comments contained in press releases, presentations to securities analysts or investors, or other
communications by the Company. These other factors are set forth in the cautionary statement filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended March 1, 2003, and include, without limitation, cautionary statements regarding changes in economic and market conditions, factors related
to competitive pricing, quality, facility utilization, new product introductions, seasonal and cyclical conditions and customer dependency. Aiso included are other risks
related to financial risk, self-insurance, environmental risk and discontinued operations. New factors emerge from time to time and it is not possible for management
to predict all such factors, nor can it assess the impact of each such factor on the business or the extent to which any factor, or a combination of factors, may cause

actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.




FY 2003: INVESTOR INFORMATION

Stock Market - . £ APOG
Apogee Enterprises, Inc. common stock is E.‘?? NASDAG
traded on the Nasdag Stock Market under ) LisTeEP®
the symbol APOG.

Corporate Heeadquarters

7900 Xerxes Avenue South, Suite 1800
Minneapolis, MN 55431 - 1159
Telephone: (952) 835-1874

Fax: (852) 835-3196

Corporate Web Site
www.apog.com

independent Auditors
Deloitte & Touche, LLP
Minneapolis, MN

Quarterly Calendar

The company’s fiscal year ends the Saturday nearest the last day of
February. Fiscal 2004 quarter-end dates are May 31, 2003, August 30,
2003, November 29, 2003 and February 28, 2004. Quarterly results
are usually announced approximately three weeks after the end of each
quarter, with the exception of the fourth-quarter results which are
announced approximately five weeks after the year-end.

Cash Dividends
Apogee has paid quarterly cash dividends in May, August, November and
February since 1974.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
For inquiries regarding stock certificates, such as lost certificates, name
changes and ownership transfers, contact:

The Bank of New York

Shareholder Relations, Dept. 11E

P.0. Box 11258, Church Street Station

New York, NY 10286 - 1258

Telephene: (800) 524-4458

E-mail: shareowner-svcs@bankofny.com

Internet: www.stockbny.com

Annuai Shareholders’ iieeting

The meeting will be held at 10 a.m. CDT on Tuesday, June 17, 2003, in
the Thrivent Financial Building Auditorium, 625 Fourth Avenue South,
Minneapolis, MN. Apogee will also be webcasting the annual meeting
for shareholders: Go to the Apogee Web site at www.apog.com, click on
“investor relations” and then click on the webcast link at the top of that
page at least 15 minutes prior to the 10 a.m. CDT meeting to register,
download and install any necessary software.

Investor Relations Contact
Mary Ann Jackson, Director of Investor Relations
Telephone: (952) 830-0674

Investor information
Additional information, such as Forms 10-K, 10-Q and proxy statements
as filed with the Securities & Exchange Commission, and results and news
releases may be obtained at no charge through one of the following:
Internet: www.apog.com
E-mail: IR@apog.com
Telephone: (952) 896-2422
Fax: (952) 896-2400
Mail: Attn: Investor Relations, Corporate Headquarters address

Multiple Accounts

Some shareholders prefer to keep their holdings in more than one
account, and they are welcome to do so. However, scme muitiple
accounts are unintentional and will occur if one stock purchase is made
with the middle initial and a subsequent purchase without the middle
initial. Please contact us for information on how to merge accounts.

Forward-Looking Statements
See page 12.

Quarteriy Steck Prices and Dividend Rates

Fiscal 2003 High Low Dividend
First Quarter .............. $ 15.600 $11.400 $ 0.055
Second Quarter .. .......... 15.330 10.150 0.055
Third Quarter .. ... oo .. 12.390 8.600 0.0575
Fourth Quarter .. ........... 10.380 7.570 0.0575
Fiscal 2002 High Low Dividend
First Quarter ............ .. $11.990 $ 6.281 $ 0.053
Second Quarter .. ....... ... 15.700 9.250 0.053
Third Quarter . ... .......... 17.000 6.860 0.055
Fourth Quarter ... .......... 18.650 9.980 0.055

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Auto Glass Repair. A process that bonds glass together with a UV-cured, optically
matched resin to restore the windshield's strength, prevent the break from spreading,
and improve the windshield's cosmetic appearance.

Curtainwall. An exterior multi-story wall consisting of an aluminum framing system
anchored to steel or concrete, glazed or filled with glass in the vision areas and
with panels in the nonvision or spandrel areas.

Energy-Efficient Glass. Generally, insulated glass units incorporating coatings that
transmit high levels of visible light while lowering the heat gain from solar energy.

Insulated glass is fabricated from two or more panes of glass separated by a sealed
air space and used primarily to reduce the transfer of heat or sound.

Hurricane-Resistant Glass. Glass laminated with a special composite used primarily
to protect a building from wind and wind-borne debris from hurricane-force winds. To
meet the safety requirements of building codes, it must pass both projectiie impact
and cyclic wind pressure tests.

Optical Coatings. Thin film metal oxide coatings which are sputter-depoesited onto
a base material such as glass. Optical coatings selectively control the reflection and
transmission of light, and can provide electrical and static dissipation.

Protective Glazing. Laminated glass products that offer protection and mitigate
against the threats of nature and mankind. Products have been tested for ballistic,
forced-entry, windstorm or bomb blast protection.

Six Sigma/Lean Thinking or Manufacturing. A business improvement process for
eliminating non-value-added process steps from the custormer's view (Lean) and
reducing variation within processes (Six Sigma). It uses fact-based analytical tools
and methodologies for preventing defects in products, processes and services,
reducing cycle times and controlling costs to generate value for customers.

Certain trademarks, copyrights and trade names are owned or licensed by Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
or its wholly owned subsidiaries. PPG Auto Glass is a trademark of PPG Industries. Other product
narmes mentioned may be trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies.

Apogee Enterprises, fnc. 13
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

- The Company

Apogee Enterprises, Inc. was incorporated under the laws of the Statc of Minncsota in 1949. Through its subsidiaries, the
Company believes it is a world leader in technologies involving the design and development of value-added glass products,
services and systems. Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "Company,” "Apogee," "we," "us" and "our” as used
herein refer to Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and its subsidiarics. '

The Company is comprised of three reporting segments to match the markets they serve:
. e The Architectural Products and Services segment designs, engincers, fabricates, installs and renovates walls of glass
and windows.comprising the outside skin of commercial and institutional buildings.
o The Automotive Replacement Glass and Services scgment fabricates, repairs and replaces automobile windshields
and windows.
e The Large-Scale Optical Technologies scgment develops and produces high technology glass that enhances visual
performance of products for the display, imaging and picturc-framing industrics.

Financial information about the Company's segments can be found in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of
the Company contained elsewhere in this report.

Products

The following tables describe our products, the business unit to which the product pertains, and the key features and
applications of our various products.

Architectural Products and Services (Architectural)

Businesses in the Architectural segment include: Viracon, Inc. (Viracon), the leading fabricator of coated, high-pcrformance
architectural glass for global commercial markets; Harmon, Inc., the largest U.S. full-service building glass installation,
maintenance and rcnovation company; Wausau Window & Wall Systems, a division of the Apogee Wausau Group, Inc.
(Wausau), a manufacturer of custom aluminum window systems and curtainwall; and Linetcc, a division of the Apogee
Wausau Group, Inc. (Linctec), a paint and anodizing finisher of window frames and PVC shutters.

Business Product/ Key Features/
Unit . Service Description Applications
Viracon Insulating Increases a window’s thermal performance; constructed with two or Light efficiency,
Glass more pieces of glass separated by a desiccant-filled spacer and Comfort, Sound
sealed with an organic sealant. The desiccant absorbs the insulating control, Aesthetic
glass unit’s internal moisture. options
Laminated Consists of two or more pieces of glass fused with a vinyl interlayer Safety, Protection,
Glass and is used primarily for skylights and security and hurricane- Comfort, Sound
resistant applications. control
High- Provides solar control, both minimizing heat gain and controlling Controls light and
Performance thermal transfer, by adding coatings to glass. In addition, coatings thermal transmission,
Coated Glass add color and varying levels of reflectivity to glass. Each coating, Reduces energy
whether metal, solarscrcen or low-emissivity, provides different costs, Comfort,
aesthetic and performance criteria and offers a range of light and Acsthetic options
thermal transmission levels. Low-emissivity coatings, which may be
used alone or with other coatings, are layers of metals, invisible to
the naked eye, deposited on glass through a vacuum sputter process
that selectively limits the transfer of heat through the glass, while
allowing a high pcreentage of visible light through the glass.
Spandrel The use of full coverage paint on insulated glass or polyester Concealment, Color

Silk-screened
Glass

opacifier film backing on high performance coated glass for use on
the non-vision areas of the building.

Glass which has been painted to create custom patterns in a wide
array of colors. Silkscreening improves the solar control
performance of the glass.

balance, Aesthetics

Aesthctics, Comfort



Tempered
Glass

Harmon, New

Inc. Construction

Service

Renovation

Curtainwall
Systems

Wausau
Window
& Wall

Systems

(Wausau)

Projected
Windows

Rolling &
Hung
Windows

Fluorpolymer
Coatings

(paint)

Linetec

Anodize

PVC Shutters

Heat-strengthened glass.

Comprehensive design, engincering, procurement, fabrication and
installation of curtainwall and window projects for commercial and
institutional buildings.

24-hour complete replacement glass services damaged glass.

Revitalizing and updating the building fagade and helping extend
the life of a building. In-house engineering capabilities allow
Harmon, Inc. to duplicate the original design or create a completely
new appearance for renovated buildings.

Highly engineered wall system consisting of glass panels and
aluminum window frame designs engineered to be thermally
efficient through the utilization of high-strength polyurethane to
limit the transfer of heat or cold through the window frame.

Windows that project out or in from the plane of the wall and are
side hinged or pivoted at the jambs.

Rolling windows consist of an operable sash that slides horizontally
along a master frame. Hung windows are vertically operated
windows in which the weight of the sash is offset by a balance
mounted in the window frame.

Electrostatic applications of high quality, solvent-based paints which
are applied to window, curtainwall, and other metal and plastic,
components. These paints are sometimes preferred over anodizing
because of the wider color selection.

The immersion of a light metal, typically aluminum, into a series of
electrically charged baths to create a very strong, weather resistant
film of aluminum oxide, often colored, at the surface.

Applications of UV protection and durable paint applied to
polyvinyl chloride (PVC) parts.

Automeotive Replacement Glass and Services (Auto Glass)
Businesses in the Auto Glass segment include: Harmon Glass Company d/b/za Harmon AutoGlass (Harmon AutoGlass), a
U.S. chain of retail automotive replacement, glass installation and repair shops; and Viracon/Curvlite, Inc. (Curvlite}, a U.S.
fabricator of aftermarket foreign and domestic car windshields and original equipment windshields for recreational vehicles

and buses.
Business Product/
Unit Service
Harmon After-market
AutoGlass Windshield
Installation
Windshicld
Repair
Viracon/ Automotive
Curvlite Replacement
(Curvlite) Glass (ARG)

Description
Installation of automotive replacement glass is conducted by
certificd specialists to meet all factory safety standards and
guidelines

Repair of cracked or chipped windshields utilizing advanced resin
technology and highly trained repair specialists to restore the
structural integrity and appearance of the windshield.

Fabrication of after-market automotive replacement windshields for
foreign and domestic cars.

Safcty

Custom design

Commercial and
residential glass
replacement, Repair
of doors, custom
mirror work and
sccurity glass

Acsthetic
enhancements,
Correct system
failures, Upgrade the
building fagade to
improve energy
efficiency, health and
safety

Energy-cfficient

Egress, Ventilation

Egress, Ventilation,
Ease of cleaning

Aesthetics

Durable, Weather
resistant

Durable, Aesthetics

Key Features/
Applications
Safety

Safety

Safety




RV/Bus - Fabrication of windshields for original equipment manufacturers of Safety, Custom
OEM & recreational vehicles and buses, as well as replacement glass for designed
Replacement these vehicles.

Glass

: 'Large-Scale Optical Technologies (LSO)
Businesses in the LSO segment include: Tru Vue, Inc. (Tru Vue), a value-added glass and matboard manufacturer for the
North American custom framing and pre-framed art markets; and Viratec Thin Films, Inc., (Viratec) a producer of optical
thin film coatings for the global display and imaging markets.

Key Features/

Business Product/
Unit Service Description Applications
Tru Vue Reflection Unique single-sided etch glass that reduces most of the glarc of Diminishes
Control Glass regular glass while providing clarity. reflections, Enhances
A clarity
Anti- Significantly reduced reflection (glare) and significantly increased Diminishes
Reflective transmission (clarity). Using a process exclusive to the Company, reflections, Clarity,
Glass highly energized metals (or oxides) arc deposited onto the glass in- Color transmission
preciscly controlled thicknesses. This ensures the most consistent,
durable quality and the highest brightness and contrast levels
available.
Conservation The product of a unique coating process which blocks 97 percent of >97% UV protection
Glass the ultraviolet rays in the 300-380 nanometer range of the light
spectrum, as well as protecting pictures and art against the sun’s
damaging rays.
Viratec Anti- See description above. Supplies anti-reflective glass solely to Tru Diminishes,
Reflective Vue. . reflections, Clarity,
Glass Color transmission
Front Surface Result of Viratec’s patented multi-layer aluminum mirror coatings Reflects 94 to 97%
Mirrors which are sputter deposited onto float glass and certificd flat float of the visible light,
glass substrates. Superior adhesion,
Increased abrasion
resistance
Anti- Utilizes anti-reflective coatings on acrylic to reduce glare and static Reduced reflections,
Reflective charge on the surface. Protection
Acrylic

Markets and Distribution Channels

Architectural Segment, The markets served by the businesses within the Architectural scgment are very competitive, price
and lead-time sensitive and affected by changes in the commercial construction industry as well as changes in gencral
economic conditions. The businesses in this segment primarily serve customers requiring custom, made-to-order products or
contract glazing.

We are well positioned as the leader in North America in the supply of a wide range of high performance architectural glass
products to the commercial building industry and other institutions. We market our products nationaily and internationally
to glass distributors, contractors, curtainwall subcontractors and commercial glass fabricators, including our own window
manufacturing and installation businesses.

We offer complete design, engineering, installation and replacement or glazing services for commercial, institutional and
other buildings in 14 metropolitan areas in the United States through Harmon, Inc. We bid and negotiate these curtainwall
and window projects with owners, architects, general contractors and property managers. While the installation of building
glass in new construction projccts is the primary market for our installation business, we arc broadcning our offerings for
glass services and retrofitting of the outside skin of older commercial and institutional buildings. We offer 24-hour
replacement service for storm or vandalism damage. Our in-bousc engincering capabilities allow us to duplicate the original
design or create a completely new appearancc for renovated buildings.

Our window and wall systems business (Wausau) designs and manufacturcs high-quality window and curtainwall systems;

engineered to be thermally cfficient, utilizing high-strength polyurcthane to limit the transfer of heat or cold through the

window frame, for commercial and institutional buildings in the United States. These products meet high standards of wind
5 .



load capacity and resistance to air and moisture infiltration. Products are marketed primarily in the United States through a

nationwide network of trained distributors and a direct sales staff. Wausau typically provides window or wall quotations to

glazing subcontractors, including our own installation business, which in-turn bids more inclusive glass and glazing packages

to general contractors for projects in the United States. At all levels, the low-bid is an advantageous competitive position, if

~ specified performance, warranty, aesthetic and operational characteristics arc met. On complex work, engineering capability
and easc of installation also become qualifying factors for window and wall manufacturers.

Our finishing busincss serves the architectural, industrial and commercial metal fabricator markets (including Wausau), as
well as building product manufacturers and intcrior window covering businesses in the Unites States and Canada.

Auto Glass Segment. The markets served by the businesses in the Auto Glass segment tend to be scasonal in naturc and are
influenced by a variety of factors, including weather, new car sales, speed limits, road conditions, the economy and average
annual number of miles driven. Harmon AutoGlass opencd its first shop over 50 years ago in downtown Minneapolis and as
of April 30, 2003 had 652 retail service centers, including co-branded facilities, in over 40 states. In addition to its own
shops, Harmon AutoGlass participates in a network of more than 5,000 affiliated auto glass retailers across the country.
While Harmon AutoGlass® primary business is windshield repair and replacement, some Harmon AutoGlass retail stores also
offer an inventory of flat glass for home window and storefront repair. Harmon AutoGlass markets its products to
consumers, insurance companies, insurance policyholders, agents, commercial fleets, body shops, automotive dealers and
automobile auctions. Harmon AutoGlass has a long-term contract with APAC Customer Services, Inc., which expires in
fiscal 2006, to provide call center insurance claims processing for Harmon AutoGlass’ insurance customers.

In an effort to enhance efficiency, geographic coverage and customer service in the distribution of auto replacement glass,
the Company and PPG Industries, Inc. (PPG) combined their U.S. automotive replacement glass distribution businesses in
July 2000 to create a new catity, PPG Auto Glass, LLC (PPG Auto Glass), of which the Company has a 34 percent interest.
As part of the arrangements with this joint venture, Harmon Auto Glass has committed, under a multi-year contract expiring
in June 2005, to purchase at least 75 percent of its replacement windshield needs from PPG Auto Glass.

The Company’s manufacturing business within the Auto Glass segment, Curvlite, serves primarily two windshield markets,
domestic and foreign automotive replacement glass {(ARG) and original equipment manufacturers’ {OEM) windshields for
recreational vehicles and buses. Under a multi-year agreement with PPG expiring in June 2005, Curvlite’s automotive
replacement glass production is primarily dedicated to supplying PPG. Curvlite is now fabricating approximately 600
different parts, about half the number manufactured prior to entering into the agreement with PPG.

LSO Segment. The markets served by the businesses within the LSO scgment are very competitive, highly responsive to new
products and price-sensitive. The customer base that the LSO segment scrves consists of customers with specific made-to-
order requests as well as those needing standard inventoried products.

The Company’s Tru Vue brand is one of the largest domestically manufactured brands produced for the value-added picture-
framing glass market. Under this brand, we provide our customers with a full array of picture-framing glass products,
including clear, reflection control, anti-reflective and conservation glass. We compliment our glass product offering with
sales of conservation picture-framing matboard. The products are distributed primarily in North America, with additional
distribution in Europe and Australia, through independent distributors, which, in turn, supply local picture-framing markets.
We continuc to convert the framing industry to our proprietary value-added glass, TruGuard™, which preserves pictures and
art. For the third consecutive year, we have converted more than 1,000 independent framers to our TruGuard™ product.

Viratec, develops advanced, optical coatings for glass and acrylic for display and imaging applications. Thesc products are
uscd in projection televisions, picture-framing glazing, as well as imaging devices such as scanners and copiers. Viratec
markets optical coatings to both domestic and foreign customers. These customers provide further assembly, marketing and
distribution to cnd-uscrs.

Warranties

We offer warranties on our products which we belicve are competitive for the markets in which those products are sold. The
naturc and cxtent of these warranties depend upon the product, the market and in some cases the customer being served.
Viracon and Wausau generally offer warranties up to 10 years, while our other businesses offer warrantics of 2 years or less.
We carry liability insurance and a reserve for warranty exposures. However, our insurance docs not cover warranty claims
and there can be no assurance that our insurance will be sufficient to cover all liability claims in the future, that the costs of
this insurance or the related deductibles will not increase materially or that liability insurance will be available on terms
acceptable to the Company in the future.



Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

Materials uscd within the Architectural segment include raw glass, vinyl, insulated glass spacer frames, silicone desiccant,
metal targets, aluminum cxtrusions, chemicals, paints, urcthane and plastic extrusions. All of these materials are readily
_ available from a number of sources and no supplier delays or shortages arc anticipated. While certain glass products may

only be available at certain times of the year, all standard glass colors arc available throughout the year in abundant
quantitics. Chemicals purchased range from commodity to specifically formulated types of chemistries.

Within the AutoGlass segment, raw materials consist of flat glass, vinyl, urcthane and polyvinyl butyral, which arc available
from a number of sources, and auto glass windshields, which Harmon AutoGlass is contractually obligated to buy at least 75
percent from PPG Auto Glass.

Matcrials used within the LSO scgment include glass, hard-coated acrylic, acrylic substrates, coating materials, chemicals,
facing paper and corcboard. Currently, the chemicals used for the UV resistant coating used at Tru Vue arc readily available
from only one supplicr whe mccts the Company's specifications for this proprietary technology. Tru Vue is currently
seeking to qualify other suppliers and alternate technologies.

The Company belicves a majority of its raw materials are availablc from a varicty of domestic sources.
Trademarks and Patents

The Company has several trademarks and trade names which it believes have significant valuc in the marketing of its
products. Within the Architectural segment, Linetec® is a registered trademark of the Company. AdVantage™ is a listed
trademark of the Company.

Within the Auto Glass segment, Harmon AutoGlass®, Harmon Glass®, Portland Glass®, Cherrydale® - Harmon are
registered trademarks of the Company. SmarTech™ and We Install Confidence™ are listed trademarks of the Company.
PPG Auto Glass™ is a trademark of PPG.

Within the LSO segment, Viratec®, Tru Vue®, TruGuard®, Conservation Clear®, Conservation Reflection Control®,
Museum Glass®, Pricing for Profit®, AR Glass®, Reflection Control®, UltraClear®, UltiMat® and UltiBlack® are
registered trademarks. Optium™, Reflection Free Acrylic™ and Museum Security Glass™ are listed trademarks of the
Company. Viratec Thin Films has obtained several patents pertaining to its glass coating methods. Tru Vue holds several
patents on its proprietary products, including its UV coating and etch processes for non-reflective glass. Despite being a
point of differentiation from its competitors, no single patent is considered to be material to the Company.

The Company had maintained various patents related to TerraSun, the Company’s research and development joint venture
which the Company discontinued funding in fiscal 2002. During fiscal 2003, the Company donated all of the technology and
patents to the Illinois Institute of Technology (IIT). Until the TerraSun patents expire, the Company will have a first right of
refusal for the purchase of any architectural product applications developed by IIT based on these patents.

Seasonality

Within the Architectural scgment, there is a slight seasonal effect following the construction industry with demand in late
spring to latc autumn that is slightly higher than during the balance of the year. The construction industry is highly cyclical
in nature and can be influcnced differently by the effects of the localized economy in different geographic markets..

The markets that are served by the businesscs in the Auto Glass segment tend to be seasonal in nature. The revenues from
this segment arc historically highest during the first and second quarters, with first and sccond quarter revenues at 26 percent
and 27 percent of full year revenues, respectively, followed by third and fourth quarter revenues at 24 percent and 23
percent, respectively. ‘

The businesses in the LSO segment depend, in part, on sales by manufacturers of products such as rear projection
televisions, computer displays and scanners and retail picture-framing products. In particular, the rear projection television
market is highly cyclical and can be scasonal, with a significant increase in sales occurring between Thanksgiving and late
January. Picture framing also tends to have an increase in the late fall, early winter time-frame.

Working Capital Requirements

Within the Architectural scgment, rcccivables can be extended bascd on the retention amounts and project durations.
Payment terms offered our customers arc similar to those offercd by others in the industry. However, inventory requircments

7




are not significant to the businesses within this segment since they make-to-order rather than build-to-stock. As a result,
inventory levels follow the customer demand for the products produced.

Due to the PPG supply agreement, the Company’s manufacturing unit maintains level volumes throughout the year to PPG,
_ which purchases and stores the product at a PPG warehouse. In turn, this provides a just-in-time inventory relationship

between PPG, PPG Auto Glass and the Company’s windshield replacement and repair unit. Therefore, limited finished
goods inventory is maintained within the segment, which causes a limited demand on working capital.

Within the LSO segment, certain raw materials are required to be purchascd in minimum order quantitics, thus causing larger
inventory levels than immediately nceded. In some instances, finished goods inventory in this scgment are maintained at
higher levels to respond to demand spikes and to smooth capacity utilization in a highly seasonal and cyclical market.

Dependence on a Single Customer

We do not have any one customer that exceeds 10 percent of the Company’s consolidated revenues, although, because of the
supply agreement with PPG in connection with the formation of PPG Auto Glass, the Company’s auto glass distribution joint
venture with PPG, PPG has become the primary customer of Curvlite. Between ARG and flat glass, PPG accounts for
approximatcly 80 percent of the total volume at Curvlite. The Company believes thc amounts received from such
transactions represent the amounts that would normally be received from unrelated third parties for similar transactions.

Due to the diversity of the markets, channels of distribution and geographic location of customers, it is management’s
opinion that the loss of any single customer within any of the scgments, other than PPG as a purchascr of windshields from
Curvlite, would not have a long-term, material, adverse effect on the Company, as a whole. However, there are important
customers whose loss could have a short-term adverse effect on the Company.

Backiog

At March 1, 2003, the Company's total backlog of orders considered to be firm was $153.3 million compared with $196.5
million at March 2, 2002. Of this amount, approximately $147.3 million and $192.7 million of the orders were in the
Architectural segment at March 1, 2003 and March 2, 2002, respectively. $138.1 million, or 90 percent, of the Company’s
backlog is expected tc be produced in fiscal 2004. We believe that the Company’s backlog of orders is not indicative of
future results of the Company.

Competitive Conditions
The Company's businesses are in industries that are, in general, fairly mature and highly competitive.

Architectural Segment. The companies within the Architectural segment primarily serve the custom portion of the
construction market in which the primary competitive factors are product quality, reliable service, warranty and the ability to
provide technical engineering and design services. The Company’s businesses within the Architectural segment had
revenues of approximately $460 million in fiscal 2003, for only a 10.5 percent share of its $4.4 billion target markets. Even
though our busincsses are generally industry leaders, their sharcs in this fragmented market are small. Viracon, the largest
business in this scgment, holds an estimated 11 percent share of the $1.7 billion North American architectural glass
fabrication market. Harmon, Inc.’s estimated share within the small to mid-size construction projects market is 2 percent;
Wausau’s share of the non-residential aluminum window and curtainwall market is 2 percent; and Linetec’s share of
architectural finishing market is 5 percent.

In recent times, there has been a shift in competition within the Architectural segment's largest business unit, Viracon. This
shift has moved from three glass fabricators in the high-end performance market with less capacity than Viracon to include
additional competition from regional glass fabricators with shorter lead times incorporating high performance, post-
temperable glass products, procured from primary glass suppliers, into their insulated glass products. The availability of
these products has enabled the regional fabricators to bid on more complex projects than in the past.

Harmon, Inc. largely competes against local and regional construction companies and glazing contractors where the primary
competitive factors are quality engineering, service and price. Wausau competcs against several major aluminum window
manufacturers in various market niches, none of whom arc dominant in all market scgments. With products at the high end
of the performance scale, and one of the industry’s best standard warranties for repair or replacement of defective product,
Wausau effectively leverages a well-carned reputation for engineering quality and delivery dependability into a position as a
preferred provider. Linctec competes against regional paint and anodizing companics.




Auto Glass Segment. The Auto Glass segment competes with other auto glass shops, glass warehouses, car dealers, body

shops and glass fabrication facilities on the basis of pricing and customer service. Its competition consists of national and

regional chains as well as significant local competition. The current annual market is approximately 11 million windshield

units and 3.5 million side and back windows. Although we are the third largest company in auto replacement glass retail

services, the Company’s retail unit’s share of this fragmented market is only approximately 5 percent. The Company’s
manufacturing unit has approximately 6 percent of the aftermarket windshield manufacturing market.

Primary compctitive factors in the Auto Glass segment arc convenicnce of service and price. Product quality and
performance are required for all competitors. Pricing through the entire supply chain has been affected by overcapacity in
the market and the influx of imported products. In the past fiscal year, the anti-dumping petition filed by the Company and
two other petitioners against Chinese manufacturers of automotive replacement glass resulted in additional duties applied to
automotive replacement glass manufactured in China, but other importers have since increased their shipments from other
countrics into the U.S., causing continued pricing pressures.

Certain of our auto replaccment glass retail compctitors provide insurance companies with claims management services,
‘including computerized referral management, policyholder call management, electronic auditing and billing services and
management reporting. While we do provide these services to a limited degree, our most significant competitors, Safelite
Glass Corporation and LYNX Services® from PPG, have a combined 95% market share.

The pricing structure in the automotive replacement glass market has also changed significantly in recent years as insurance
companics scck volume pricing at discounted rates from historical levels and attempt to enter into preferred or exclusive
provider arrangements with a limited number of providers. Conscquently, margins have narrowed at the retail and
manufacturing levels, in which the Auto Glass scgment operates.

LSO Segment. Product pricing, service and quality are the primary compectitive factors in the markets within the LSO
segment. The Company's competitive strength includes our cxcellent relationships with its customers. We compete in the
valuc-added and conservation glass and matboard markets in North America based on the product performance afforded by
our proprictary, patentcd processes. Until recently, we have been the only company in the picture~-framing industry that has
been able to produce UV products in any meaningful supply and at a consistent, high level of quality. While there is
significant price sensitivity in regard to sales of clear glass to picture framers, we have been able to capture a price premium
on our value-added glass products. We estimate we have a 60 percent share of the sector of this market that has been
converted to value-added glass. There is a growing demand in this market sector, and fiscal 2003 saw the entrant of several
competitors, which were gencrally smaller specialty fabricators or large integrated glass manufacturers, All of these new
entrants introduced products that will compete directly with our value-added glass products.

Viratec compctes with a few significant coating manufacturers and fabricators and numerous smaller specialty coaters and
fabricators in North America and abroad. Competitors in the electronic display market include companics developing new
coatings, such as wet coatings for flat panel displays, as well as competitors who supply sputter coated films similar to those
produced by us. Customers’ selection of anti-reflective products is driven by quality, price, service and capacity.

Research and Development

The amount spent on research and development activitics over the past three fiscal years was $3.5 million in fiscal 2003,
$2.8 million in fiscal 2002 and $3.0 million in fiscal 2001. Our research and development has been focused upon
development of new proprietary products and system enhancements.

In fiscal 2002, the Company decided to discontinue funding TerraSun, LLC (TerraSun), its research and development joint
venture of which the Company had a 50 percent interest. As a result, TerraSun ceascd its operations. TerraSun had been
developing holographic optical technologies for lighting and energy systems applications. In connection with the closure of
TerraSun, we acquired TerraSun’s proprietary technology. We donated the patented technology developed by TerraSun to
the Illinois Institutc of Technology in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003.

Environment

We use hazardous matcrials in our manufacturing operations, and have air and water emissions that require controls. As a
result, we are subject to stringent federal, state and local regulations governing the storage, use and disposal of wastes. We
contract with outside vendors to collect and dispose of waste at our production facilities in compliance with applicable
environmental laws. In addition, we have procedurcs in place that we believe enable us to deal properly with the regulated
materials used in our manufacturing processes and wastes created by the production processes, and we have implemented a
program to monitor our compliance with environmental laws and regulations. Although we belicve we arc currently in
material compliance with such laws and regulations, current or futurc laws and regulations could require us to make
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substantial expenditures for compliance with chemical exposure, waste treatment or disposal regulations. During fiscal
2003, we spent approximately $1.4 million at facilities to reduce wastewater solids and further reduce hazardous air

emissions.

~Employees

The Company employed 5,341 persons at March 1, 2003, of whom approximately 769 were represented by labor unions.
The Company is a party to 47 collective bargaining agrcements with several different unions. Approximately 6 percent of
the collective bargaining agreements representing 93 employees will expire during fiscal 2004, The number of collective
bargaining agreements to which the Company is a party will vary with the number of cities with active nonrcsidential
construction contracts. The Company considers its employee relations to be very good and has not recently experienced any
significant loss of workdays due to strike. We are highly dependent upon the continuing services of certain technical and
management personncl.

Foreign Operations and Export Sales

During the years ended March 1, 2003, March 2, 2002 and March 3, 2001, the Company's cxport sales, principally from
Architcctural operations, amounted to approximately $37.2 million, $35.0 million and $40.0 million, respectively.

Available Information

The Company maintains a website at WWW.APOG.COM. Through a link to a third-party content provider, this corporate
website provides free access to the Company’s annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after electronic filing with the Securitics and Exchange

Commission.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The following table lists, by segment, the Company's major facilities as of March 1, 2003, the general use of the facility and
whether it is owned or leased by the Company.

Owned/ ,
Facility Location Leased Size (sq. ft.) Function
Architectural Segment
Viracon Owatonna, MN Owned 765,500  Mfg/Admin
Viracon Statesboro, GA Owned 340,800 Mfg
Viracon Owatonna, MN Leased 6,400 Maintenance
Harmon, Inc. Headquarters Minneapolis, MN Leased 11,400  Admin
Wausau Window & Wall Systems  Wausau, W] Owned 308,800 Mfg/Admin
Wausau Window & Wall Systems  Stratford, W1 Leased 33,400 Mfg
Linctec Wausau, WI Owned 288,800  Mfg/Admin
Linetec Villa Rica, GA Leased 76,500  Mfg
Auto Glass Segment
Harmon AutoGlass Headquarters ~ Minneapolis, MN Leascd 63,700  Admin
Viracon/Curvlite Owatonna, MN Owned 129,300  Mfg/Admin
National Distribution Center Owatonna, MN Owned 155,000  Warehouse/Admin
LSO Segment
Tru Vue McCook, IL Owned 300,000  Mfg/Admin
Tru Vue Orlando, FL Leased 19,300  Mfg/Admin
Viratec Thin Films, Inc. Faribault, MN Owned 204,600 Mfg/Admin
Other
Apogee Corporate Office Minneapolis, MN Leascd 20,200  Admin

In addition to the locations indicated above, at April 30, 2003, the Auto Glass segment operated 265 Harmon AutoGlass

retail locations and 387 co-branded facilities in over 40 states.

The majority of such locations are leased. Also,

Architectural Products and Services' Harmon, Inc. unit operates 16 leased locations, serving 14 metropolitan areas.




The Curvlite plant, a portion of the Wausau Window & Wall Systems facility, the Linetec paint facility, and the owned Tru
Vue facility were constructed with the use of procceds from industrial revenue bonds issued by their applicable cities. These
properties are considered owned since, at the end of the bond term, title reverts to the Company.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company has been a party to various legal proceedings incidental to its normal operating activities. In particular, like
others in the construction supply industry, the Company's construction supply businesses are routinely involved in various
disputes and claims arising out of construction projects, sometimes involving significant monetary damages or product
replacerment. Although it is impossible to predict the outcome of such proceedings, facts currently available indicate that no
such claims will result in losses that would have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows of the Company.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of sccurity holders during the fourth quarter ended March 1, 2003.
Executive Officers of the Registrant

Name Age Positions with Apogee Enterprises and Five-Year Employment History

Russcll Huffer 53 Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company since June 1999 and Chief
Executive Officer and President of the Company since January 1998. Various
management positions within the Company since 1986.

Michael B. Clauer 46 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) since November 2000.
CFO at Open Port Technology from March 2000 to November 2000. Exccutive
Vice President and CFO for Budget Group, Inc. from November 1997 to February
2000. Various financial management positions at PepsiCo, Inc. from 1987 to
November 1997.

Joseph T. Deckman 59 Exccutive Vice President of Apogee Enterprises since July 1999. President of
Harmon AutoGlass, a subsidiary of the Company, since July 2002. Various
management positions within the Company from 1995 to July 1999.

Larry D. Stordahl 60 Exccutive Vice President since 1998. Various management positions within SPX
Corporation for 17 years prior to joining the Company.

Patricia A. Beithon 49 General Counsel and Secretary since September 1999. Divisional Legal Counsel
for Pfizer, Inc. subsidiaries, American Medical Systems, Inc. and Schneider (USA),
Inc. from 1990 to 1999.

Gary R. Johnson 41 Vice President-Treasurer since January 2001. Various management positions
within the Company since 1995.

James S. Porter 42 Vice President of Strategy and Planning since 2002. Various management
positions within the Company since 1997.

Executive officers are elected annually by the Board of Dircctors and serve for a one-year period. There are no family
relationships between the executive officers or directors of the Company.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER

MATTERS
Market Information

Apogee common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market, under the ticker symbol APOG. Stock price quotations are
printed daily in major newspapers. During the fiscal ycar ended March 1, 2003, the average trading volume of Apogee
common stock was 2,669,000 shares per month, according to Nasdag.

As of March 31, 2003, there were 27,194,000 shares of common stock outstanding, of which about 9.0 percent were owned
by directors and executive officers of Apogce. At that datc, there were approximately 1,936 shareholders of record and
5,200 shareholders for whom securities firms acted as nominces.

The following chart shows the quarterly range and year-end closing bids for one share of the Company's common stock over
the past five fiscal years.

First Second Third Fourth Year-end

Low High Low High Low High Low High Close
1999 $1L.813 - $15.250 $11.125 - $15.500 $8.125 - $12.875 $8.750 - $12.375 $ 8.750
2000 8.750 - 13.750 7875 - 14.313 5688 - 8.625 4000 - 6.313 5.000
2001 3313 - 5.500 3250 - 4.531 4313 - 6.063 4.625 - 9.500 9.000
2002 6.281 - 11.990 9250 - 15.700 6.860 - 17.000 9990 - 18.650 11.300
2003 11.400 - 15.600 10.150 - 15.330 8.600 - 12.390 7570 - 10.380 8.170

Dividends

It is Apogee's policy, subject to Board review and approval, to pay quarterly cash dividends in May, August, November and
February. Cash dividends have been paid each quarter since 1974. The chart below shows quarterly and annual cumulative,
cash dividends per share for the past five fiscal years. Subject to future operating results, available funds and the Company's
future financial condition, the Company intends to continue paying cash dividends, when and if declared by its Board of
Directors. ’

First Second Third Fourth Total
1999 $0.050 $0.050 $0.053 $0.053 $0.205
2000 0.053 0.053 0.053 0.053 0.210
2001 0.053 0.053 0.053 0.053 0.210
2002 0.053 0.053 0.055 0.055 0.215

2003 0.055 0.055 0.058 0.058 0.225
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following information should be read in conjunction with Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analys1s of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations and Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

(In thousands, except per share data and percentages)* 2003 . 2002 2001 2000 1999
Resuits from Operations Data
Net sales $ 771,839 $ 802,315 $ 865,200 $ 340,488 $ 788,062
Gross profit 186,067 187,728 178,997 167,235 170,415
Opcrating income 41,694 44,127 31,894 19,418 43,352
Earnings from continuing operations 26,340 26,142 13,361 3,071 20,245
Net carnings (loss) 29915 26,142 15,002 12,175 25,233
Eamings (loss) per share — basic .

From continuing operations 0.96 0.94 0.48 0.11 0.73

Net camings (loss) - 1.09 0.94 0.54 0.44 0.91
Eamings (loss) per share — dilutcd

From continuing operations 0.93 0.91 0.48 0.11 0.73

Net earnings (loss) 1.06 0.91 0.54 0.44 0.91
Balance Sheet Data
Current assets $ 171,463 $ 175,084 $ 175,191 $ 214,422 $ 204,308
Total assets 382,841 409,116 432,679 481,154 466,389
Current liabilitics 120,428 127,239 137,437 135,397 119,796
Long-term debt 47,258 69,098 104,206 164,371 165,097
Shareholders’ equity 178,210 170,934 148,292 137,772 130,664
Cash Flow Data
Depreciation and amortization $ 24271 $§ 28,051 $ 34,606 $ 33,019 $ 25,798
Capital expenditures 12,833 10,466 14,823 44,025 77,392
Dividends 6,246 6,078 5,834 5,833 5,666
Other Data
Gross margin - % 24.1 234 207 , 19.9 21.6
Opecrating margin - % 5.4 55 3.7 23 5.5
Effective tax ratc - % 28.0 31.0 39.9 50.8 37.6
Working capital $ 51,035 $ 47,845 $ 37,754 $ 79,025 $ 84,512
Long-term debt as a % of invested capital *** 18.7 26.0 37.6 50.2 51.0
Retumn on:

Average shareholders’ equity - % 17.1 16.4 10.5 9.1 210

Average invested capital *** - % 11.5 9.6 5.0 3.7 33
Dividend yield at year-end - % 2.8 1.9 2.3 42 24
Book value per share 6.55 6.03 5.33 4.97 4,73
Price/earnings ratio at ycar-end 8:1 13:1 17:1 11:1 10:1
Average monthly trading volume (in thousands) 2,669 4,043 3,545 2,666 1,962
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(In thousands, except per share data and percentages)* 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994%* 1993
Resuits of Operations Data
Net sales $ 731,094 $ 642,226 $ 567,823 3 516,022 $ 426,400 $ 367,878
Gross profit 165,139 .143,761 116,426 102,400 84,184 71,141
Operating income 45,659 44,628 34,729 31,535 23,803 8,779
Earnings from continuing operations 24,114 26,827 20,656 19,160 16,279 6,657
Nct earnings (loss) (51,055) 26,220 17,836 13,050 3,833 4,514
Earnings (loss) per share — basic

From continuing operations 0.87 0.98 0.76 0.72 0.62 0.25

Net carnings (loss) (1.84) 0.96 0.66 0.49 0.14 0.17
Eamings (loss) per share — diluted .

From continuing operations 0.85 0.96 0.76 0.71 0.61 0.25

Net earnings (loss) (1.80) 0.93 0.65 0.48 0.14 0.17
Balance Sheet Data
Current assets $ 206,858 $ 159,095 $ 149,414 $ 155,608 § 123,301 $ 102,869
Total assets 405,526 410,522 327,233 317,085 257,877 213,372
Current liabilities 97,750 86,178 83,574 90,876 92,536 61,702
Long-term debt 151,967 127,640 79,102 80,566 35,688 28,419
Sharcholders’ equity 109,600 172,150 138,922 124,628 114,062 112,336
Cash Fiow Data
Depreciation and amortization $ 22,463 $ 17,860 $ 13,122 $ 11,972 $ 12,423 $ 12,344
Capital expenditures 37,892 34,203 20,038 22,603 11,447 6,393
Dividends 5,251 4,806 4,453 4,154 3,841 3,584
Other Data
Gross margin - % 22.6 22.4 20.5 19.8 19.7 19.3
Operating margin - % 6.2 6.9 6.1 6.1 5.6 24
Effective tax rate - % 37.4 315 354 35.1 32.6 28.8
Working capital $ 109,108 $ 72,916 3 65,840 $ 64,732 $ 30,765 $ 41,167
Long-term debt as a % of invested capital**#* 53.1 394 325 ’ 35.6 21.6 18.7
Retumn on:

Average sharcholders’ equity - % (36.2) 16.9 13.5 109 34 4.0

Average invested capital *** - % (16.7) 9.2 7.6 6.7 2.4 3.0
Dividend yield at year-end - % 1.5 0.9 1.7 1.9 20 23
Book value per share 3.99 6.17 5.14 4.64 4.28 426
Price/earnings ratio at year-end NM 21:1 15:1 18:1 50:1 34:1
Average monthly trading volume (in thousands) 4,065 4,795 1,776 1,613 519 644

*Share and per share data have been adjusted for the fiscal 1997 stock dividend.

**Fiscal 1994 figures reflect the cumulative effect of a change in accounting for income taxes, which increased net eamings by $0.5 million, or 2 cents per

share.

*++] ong-term debt + long-term self-insurance reserves + other long-term liabilities + shareholders’ equity

NM=Not meaningful
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Performance

The relationship between various components of operations, stated as a percent of net salcs, is illustrated below for the past three
fiscal years.

(Percent of Net Sales) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales ‘ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of sales 759 76.6 79.3
Gross profit 24.1 234 20.7
Sclling, general and administrative expenses » 187 179 17.0
Operating income . 5.4 5.5 3.7
Interest income 0.1 0.2 0.2
Interest expense 0.6 : 0.9 1.5
Other income, net 0.1 0.0 0.0
Equity in (loss) income of affiliated companies (0.3) (0.1) 0.2
Earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes 4.7 47 2.6
Income taxes 13 14 L1
Eamings from continuing operations 34 33 1.5
Eamnings from discontinued operations, net 0.5 0.0 0.2
Net earnings 3.9% 313% 1.7%

Fiscal 2003 Compared To Fiscai 2002

Consolidated net sales decrcased 4 percent in fiscal 2003 to $771.8 million from $802.3 million in fiscal 2002. The net decrease is
attributable to volume reductions and lower pricing due to competitive pressures in the Auto Glass segment and a slowdown in the
commercial construction industry affecting the Architectural segment. These reductions were partially offset by revenue gains in
the LSO segment from new product introductions and conversions of value-added picturc-framing glass.

On a consolidated basis, cost of sales, as a percentage of net sales, fell to 75.9 percent for fiscal 2003, improving from 76.6 percent
in fiscal 2002. The primary factors for the increased margins were from efficiencies gained as a result of the higher levels of
capacity utilization in our LSO segment as well as cfficiency gains and sales of higher-margin products in the Architectural
scgment. The combined impact of these items increased margins by 1.7 percent. This improvement was offset by price declines
for the entire Auto Glass segment and reduced operating performance in our auto glass retail business.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses, as a percentage of salcs, increascd to 18.7 percent from 17.9 percent, but the
expenses remained esscatially flat year-over-year at $144.4 million versus $143.6 million in fiscal 2002. Increases in marketing
and advertising costs related to the Auto Glass segment windshield repair initiative and the Architectural segment renovation
initiative were offset by reductions in salarics and related costs in the Architectural and Auto Glass segments as a result of reducing
the overall cost structure. Decreased performance-based incentive expenscs, lower training costs, gain on sale of asscts and lower
bad debt expenses also contributed to offset these higher expenses.

Net intercst expense decreased to $3.5 million for fiscal 2003 from $5.3 million in fiscal 2002, reflecting lower borrowing levels
and a lower weighted-average interest rate under our revolving credit agrecement. The cffects of the lower borrowing levels and
ratc were offset by less interest collected from tax refunds received during the year in comparison to the prior year.

Other income in fiscal 2003 reflects $1.0 million pretax benefit of realized gains on the sale of investments held for our self-
insurance program as compared to $0.1 million in the prior year. The increased gains in the current year reflect a significant sale of
marketable securities. As part of normal investment portfolio management, the Company’s wholly owned insurance subsidiary sold
appreciated marketable debt securitics, creating this gain.

Our equity in loss from affiliated companies was $2.5 million in fiscal 2003 versus equity in loss of $1.0 million in the prior year.
This additional loss is related to a decline in the performance of the PPG Auto Glass joint venture as a result of very competitive
and reduced prices in the auto glass industry. Additionally, amendments made to supply agreements related to the PPG Auto Glass
joint venture in the prior year sccond quarter led to lower earnings during the current year for PPG Auto Glass and increased
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earnings for the Auto Glass segment in the amount of $2.1 million. These declines were partially offset by elimination of funding
for the TerraSun joint venture, which was shut down during the third quarter of fiscal 2002.

~ Our effective income tax rate of 28.0 percent of pre-tax earnings from continuing operations decreased from the 31.0 percent of

pre-tax earnings from continuing operations reported in fiscal 2002. This reduction was duc to the donation of the TerraSun
patented technology to the Illinois Institute of Technology (IIT) in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, which resulted in a significant
deduction that reduced the current year rate in comparison to the prior year.

Our fiscal 2003 earnings from continuing operations increased to $26.3 million or $0.93 diluted earnings per share. This compared
to earnings from continuing operations of $26.1 million, or $0.91 diluted earnings per share, a year earlier. The increase in
carnings is largely attributable to the revenue and productivity gains within our LSO segment, the elimination of goodwill
amortization and reduced interest and taxes, offset by declines for our Architectural and Auto Glass scgments and losses from our
affiliated companies.

Current year income from discontinued operations resulted from a reduction in our estimates of the uitimate liabilities for the
discontinued European curtainwall operation. This caused our net income in the fourth quarter to increase by $3.6 million, or $0.13
diluted earnings per share. We did not recognize earnings from operations of discontinued businesses in fiscal 2002. Qur fiscal
2003 net earnings were $29.9 million, or $1.06 diluted carmngs per share. This compared to $26.1 million of net carnings, or
$0.91 diluted earnings per share, a year ago.

Segment Analysis

Architectural Products and Services

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales $458,811 $479,364 $441,466
Operating income 32,134 34,396 27,393
Depreciation and amortization 15,386 16,617 16,111
Capital expenditures 9,925 5,078 6,257
Assets 203,903 225,038 225,668

Architectural net sales for fiscal 2003 decreased 4 percent to $458.8 million from $479.4 million in fiscal 2002. The decrease is
due to the effects of the slowed economy on the North American commercial construction industry, and to delays in construction
project timing. The impact of these items resulted in lower sales for most of our Architectural business units. This segment’s
revenue decline was partially offset by an increase in institutional projects and revenues earned on renovation projects.

Operating income for the segment in fiscal 2003 decreased 7 percent to $32.1 million from $34.4 million in the prior yecar.
Operating margin decreased to 7.0 percent for fiscal 2003 from 7.2 percent in fiscal 2002. The majority of the decline in operating
income was due to cxcess capacity associated with the revenue decline. We took actions in the. latter part of the fourth quarter and
early part of the first quarter of fiscal 2004 to lower the cost structure to reflect the current market outlook. Additionally, the level
of institutional projects, which have lower margins, increased in fiscal 2003, and we expect this project mix to continue in fiscal
2004. The margin declinc was partially offset by manufacturing efficiencies in our glass and window fabricating busincss units.

The segment’s depreciation and amortization is down slightly in comparison to the prior year as a result of our adoption of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which eliminated
amortization of goodwill for fiscal 2003. The fiscal 2002 amortization of goodwill at the Architectural segment was $0.5 million.
Capital expenditures rosc slightly year-over-ycar as the segment invested in more production equipment to increase capacity
compared to the prior year. Total assets at the end of fiscal 2003 decreased compared to those at the end of fiscal 2002 as a result
of reduced receivables and inventorics.

Automotive Replacement Glass and Services

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales $233,380 $255,133 $333,311
Operating incomc 7,926 16,088 1,429
Depreciation and amortization 5,108 6,527 11,873
Capital expenditures 2,029 3,101 5,922
Assets 72,220 84,508 96,595
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Auto Glass net salcs decreased 9 percent to $233.4 million in fiscal 2003. The decrease was primarily duc to lower prices as a
result of competitive pricing pressures in our retail and manufacturing business units along with a change in the product mix of
business in retail to a higher level of fleet salcs. The average price in our retail business has declined by more than 5 percent for
the current year in comparison to fiscal 2002. Our unit volume remained relatively consistent with the prior year, with declines in
the first half of the year followed by improvements in ycar-over-ycar volumes in the seccond half. Market data indicates that unit
demand for replacement auto glass in the U.S. decreased 5 percent during fiscal 2003.

Auto Glass operating income decreased to $7.9 million in fiscal 2003 from operating income of $16.1 million in fiscal 2002 duc to
a combination of pricing dcclines in the retail and manufacturing businesses and operational incfficiencies within our retail
business. These items were partially offset by cost reductions implemented late in fiscal 2003 in our retail business and operational
improvements within our manufacturing business unit as well as gains from the sale of real cstate. The scgment continues to pursue
opportunities to increasc utilization and improve efficiencics to offsct the tough industry conditions and pricing pressures.

Depreciation and amortization decreased to $5.1 million for fiscal 2003 from $6.5 million for the prior year. This is the result of
the climination of goodwill amortization of $0.4 million and certain significant computer hardware and software applications
becoming fully depreciated during fiscal 2002. Capital expenditures for fiscal year 2003 were $2.0 million compared to $3.1
million in fiscal 2002 as we focuscd on utilizing the assets already deployed.

Total assets decreascd to $72.2 million at the end of fiscal 2003 from $84.5 million at the end of fiscal 2002 as a result of selling
certain non-corc business asscts in fiscal 2003. In addition, there were declincs in working capital due to reductions of receivables

in the retail business because of efforts to reduce our overall investment.

Large-Scale Optical Technologies

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales $79,705 $67,829 $90,768
Operating income (loss) 3,694 (4,350) 4,571
Depreciation and amortization 2,409 3,292 5,916
Capital expenditures 822 2,229 2,677
Assets 51,431 53,781 68,489

LSO net sales of $79.7 million increased 18 percent over fiscal 2002 and operating incorne improved from a loss of $4.4 million to
income of $3.7 million in fiscal 2003. These increases were the result of several successful néew product introductions, particularly
in applying coatings to acrylic, and continued conversions and wider distribution of value-added picturc-framing glass. Also
contributing were improvements in key consumer electronics and retail framing markets. In addition, operational improvements
from the company-wide six sigma effort improved operating margins for the scgment.

Depreciation and amortization dccreased to $2.4 million for fiscal 2003 from $3.3 million for the prior year due to the
implementation of SFAS No. 142 which eliminated goodwill amortization of $0.6 million. Capital expenditures for fiscal year
2003 were $0.8 million compared to $2.2 million in fiscal 2002 as we focused on utilizing the assets already deployed.

Total assets decreased to $51.4 million at the end of fiscal 2003 from $53.8 million at the end of fiscal 2002 due to an overall
reduction in working capital requirements.

Fiscal 2002 Compared To Fiscal 2001

Consolidated net sales decreased 7 percent in fiscal 2002 to $802.3 million from $865.2 million in fiscal 2001. Net sales decreased
1 percent compared to the prior ycar, after being adjusted for the July 2000 formation of PPG Auto Glass, LLC (PPG Auto Glass)
joint venture. The results of the Auto Glass distribution unit, which we contributed to the joint venture, were not included in our
continuing operations in fiscal 2002, as they werce through the second quarter of fiscal 2001. The remaining net decrease is
attributable to volume reductions and lower pricing from competitive pressures in the Auto Glass segment and slowdown in the
markets served by the LSO segment. These reductions were partially offset by increased revenues in our Architectural segment due
to increascd volume and more efficient and effective operations. Additionally, fiscal 2002 comprised of 52 weeks versus 53 weeks
in fiscal 2001.

On a consolidated basis, cost of sales, as a percentage of nct salcs, fell to 76.6 percent for fiscal 2002, improving from 79.3 percent
in fiscal 2001. The primary factors were efficiencies gained in our Architectural scgment, as well as cost reductions and sales of
higher-margin product mix in that scgment. These improvements impactcd margin by 3.2 percent. The net of the formation of the
PPG Auto Glass joint venture and pricing amendments to the PPG Auto Glass supply agrecements made during the second quarter
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of fiscal 2002 increased margins by 0.4 percent. These increases were offset by significant margin reductions within the LSO
segment.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses, as a percentage of sales, increased to 17.9 percent from 17.0 percent, but
decreased $3.5 million. Key components attributable to the decline in SG&A expenses were reductions in depreciation, and
salaries and related costs in the Auto Glass segment to reduce its overall cost structure. These declines werc partially offsct by
increased performance-based incentive cxpenses and training costs.

Net interest expense dccreased to $5.2 million for fiscal 2002 from $10.9 million in fiscal 2001, reflecting significantly lower
borrowing levels and a lower weighted-average intcrest rate under the revolving credit agreement. Alsc contributing to this
decrease werc interest components of tax refunds received during the year.

Our equity in loss from affiliated companics was $1.0 million in fiscal 2002 versus equity in income of $1.5 million in the prior
ycar. The amendments made to the supply agreements related to the PPG Auto Glass joint venturc in the current year second
quarter led to lower earnings during the ycar for PPG Auto Glass. This decline was somewhat offset by lower costs at the TerraSun
joint venturce, which was shut down during the third quarter of fiscal 2002.

Qur effective income tax rate of 31.0 percent of pre-tax carnings from continuing operations decreased from the 39.9 percent of
pre-tax earnings from continuing operations reported in fiscal 2001. This reduction was due to a decrease in tax reserves as a result
of the closure of certain tax periods and due to the relationship of permanent book and tax differences.

Our fiscal 2002 earnings from continuing operations increased to $26.1 million or $0.91 diluted earnings per share. This compared
to earnings from continuing operations of $13.4 million, or $0.48 diluted earnings per share, a year earlier. The increase in
earnings is largely attributable to the revenue and productivity gains within our Architectural scgment, a reduced cost structure in
the auto glass related businesses, and lower interest and taxes, offset by losses in our LSO segment.

We did not report earnings from operations of discontinued businesses in fiscal 2002. In fiscal 2001, we reported earnings from
operations of discontinued businesses of $1.6 million after tax, or $0.06 diluted carnings per share. Qur fiscal 2002 net carnings
were $26.1 million, or §0.91 diluted earnings per share. This compared to $15.0 million, or $0.54 diluted earnings per share, a
year ago.

Segment Analysis

Architectural Products and Services

Architectural net sales for fiscal 2002 increased 9 percent to $479.4 million from $441.5 million in fiscal 2001. The increase is due
to an increase in the number of curtainwall installation projects, due to the ncw renovation initiatives and growth at new and mature
shops, and improved operations allowing for more capacity and shipments at our window systems and curtainwall manufacturing

business. :

Operating income for the segment in fiscal 2002 increased 26 percent to $34.4 million from $27.4 million in the prior year. The
resultant operating margins increased to 7.2 percent for fiscal 2002 from 6.2 percent in fiscal 2001. The majority of the
improvement in operating income was driven by sales mix changes to higher margin products and efficiencies in manufacturing in
glass fabricating, partially offset by slightly lower margins in installation.

The segment’s depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures remained flat for the period compared to prior year. Total
assets at the end of fiscal 2002 were consistent with those at the end of fiscal 2001.

Automotive Replacement Glass and Services

Auto Glass net sales decreased 23 percent to $255.1 million in fiscal 2002. Segment revenues, which declined 9 percent compared
to fiscal 2001 after being adjusted for thc PPG Auto Glass joint venture, decreased due to reduced retail unit volumes from loss of
market share and lower prices as a result of competitive pricing pressures. Market data indicates that unit demand for replacement

auto glass in the U.S. increased 4 percent during fiscal 2002.

Auto Glass operating income increased to $16.1 million for fiscal 2002 from operating income of $1.4 million in fiscal 2001 due to

a combination of improvements in the retail business and changes in PPG Auto Glass supply agreements. Approximately 70

percent of the operating income improvement resulted from amendments made to the supply agreements related to the PPG Auto

Glass joint venture, effective beginning the second quarter of this ycar. Thesc amendments permanently adjusted pricing to the
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joint venture from our windshield manufacturing business, resulting in higher income for the segment. The remaining gains were
the result of opcrational improvements and cost reductions implemented late fiscal 2001 for retail. At the end of fiscal 2002, Auto
Glass had 270 Harmon AutoGlass retail locations and 174 co-branded facilities. The segment continues to pursue opportunities to
increasc utilization and improve efficiencies.

Depreciation and amortization decreased to $6.5 million for fiscal 2002 from $11.9 million for the prior year. This is the result of
certain significant computer hardware and software applications becoming fully depreciated during fiscal 2001.  Capital
expenditures for fiscal year 2002 were $3.1 million compared to $5.9 million in fiscal 2001.

Total assets decrcased to $84.5 million at the end of fiscal 2002 from $96.6 million at the end of fiscal 2001, This decrease is
attributable to the reduction of distribution business assets not included in the contribution to the PPG Auto Glass joint venture.
We sold certain remaining assets and realized the reduction of working capital assets. In addition, there were reductions in working
capital requirements due to reductions of receivables in the retail business.

Large-Scale Optical Technologies

LSO nct sales of $67.8 million decreased 25 percent over fiscal 2001. The decrease in net sales and resulting operating loss were a
direct result of the severe downtumn in the PC industry and the slowdown in retail framing markets, along with the closure of the
San Dicgo facility during the first quarter of the year. LSO reported an operating loss of $4.4 million for fiscal 2002, compared to
operating income of $4.6 million for fiscal 2001.

Depreciation and amortization decreased to $3.3 million for fiscal 2002 from $5.9 million for the prior year due to sale and
leaseback agreements entered into on certain production equipment during fiscal 2001. The leases are accounted for as opcrating
leases in ‘accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases. Capital expenditures for fiscal ycar 2002 were $2.2 million
compared to $2.7 million in fiscal 2001.

Total asscts decreased to $53.8 million at the end of fiscal 2002 from $68.5 million at the cnd of fiscal 2001. This decrease is
attributable to the sale of assets from the shutdown of the San Diego facility, and an overall reduction in working capital
requirements due to the slowdown.

Related Party Transactions

As a result of our 34 percent interest in PPG Auto Glass (of which PPG Industrics, Inc. holds the remaining interest), various
transactions the Company enters into with PPG Auto Glass are deemed to be “related party” transactions. Under the terms of a
multi-year agreement expiring in Junc 2005, the Company's retail auto glass business is committed to purchasing at least 75 percent
of its replacement windshicld nceds from PPG Auto Glass. The terms are negotiated equivalent to an arm’s-length basis. We
believe that the amounts paid for such transactions represent the amounts that would normally be paid to unrelated third partics for
similar transactions.

Discontinued Operations

During fiscal 2001, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of the assets of VISN Service Corporation (VIS’N), a non-
auto glass focused, and third-party administered, claims processor, in two scparate transactions with no impact to net earnings.
VIS’N is presented as a discontinued operation in the accompanying financial statements and notes. Prior periods have been
restated.

At March 1, 2003, reserves totaling $11.8 million represented the remaining estimated future net cash outflows associated with the
exit from discontinued operations. During fiscal 2003, we reduced our cstimates of these liabilitics by $5.7 million (83.6 million,
net of tax) as a result of favorable rcsolution of certain exposures as well as from reductions in estimated future liabilities for the
discontinucd European curtainwall operations. Additionally, we made $2.2 million of payments related to warranty and legal costs.
The majority of these cash expenditures arc expected to be made within the next three years. The primary components of the
reserves relate to the remaining exit costs from previously discontinued businesses. In several transactions in fiscal years 1998
through 2000, thc Company completed the sale of its large-scale domestic curtainwall business, the sale of the Company’s
detention/security business and its cxit from international curtainwall operations. The long-term clements within the rescrves
rclating to the intcrnational curtainwall opcrations include bonds outstanding, of which the precise degree of liability related to
these matters will not be known until they are settled within the UX. and French courts. Additionally, any long-term product
liability issues, consisting of warranty and rework issues, on these intcrnational construction projects are reserved.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

(Cash effect, in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Net cash provided by operating activities $42,710 $50,873 564,644
Capital expenditures (12,833) (10,466) (14,823)
Proceeds from dispositions of property - 6,074 5,598 17,834
Borrowing activities, net (23,275) (36,519) (61,266)
Purchase of Company common stock . (19,547) (183) (49)

Operating activities. Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations was $42.7 million for fiscal 2003 compared to
$50.9 million in fiscal 2002. The decline over the past year is attributable to the decline in operating income and changes in non-
cash working capital. During the current year, working capital, excluding cash, increased $8.4 million from fiscal 2002 duc to
decreases in compensation-related accruals, and the amount and timing of warranty-related accruals. Non-cash working capital
remained relatively flat in the prior year in comparison to fiscal 2001. Management of working capital resourccs is a focus for the
Company, and we expect reductions in working capital in fiscal 2004.

Investing activities. Capital expenditures in fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $12.8 million, $10.5 million and $14.8 million,
respectively. Capital expenditures for the last three years are lower as compared to fiscal 1999 and 2000 as a direct result of filling
the capacity of significant expansion projects initiated in these earlier years. The Company’s capacity utilization at the end of fiscal
2003 was at 60 percent, indicating that capital requirements for expansion will be limited over the foreseeable future as growth
initiatives fill the remaining available capacity.

In fiscal 2004, the Company expects to incur capital expenditures as necessary to maintain existing facilities, safety and
information systems as well as some capacity improvements within the LSO segment. Fiscal 2004 cxpenditures arc expected to be
less than $20.0 million.

In fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company had proceeds on the sale of certain land, buildings and equipment totaling $6.1
million, $5.6 million and $17.8 million, respectively. We have been focused on reducing our investment in non-corc business
assets over the past several years, which has resulted in these proceeds. We do not anticipate the same level of sales to occur in
fiscal 2004 as has occurred in the prior three years. Included in the fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001 amounts were salc and leaseback
agreements on miscellaneous equipment totaling $2.1 million and $16.0 million, respectively. Under these and its other sale and
leaseback agreements, the Company has an option to purchase the equipment at projecied future fair market value upon expiration
of the leases, which occurs in fiscal 2007, 2008 and 2009. We are not expecting to have any such agreements for fiscal 2004.

We continue to review our portfolio of busincsses and their assets in comparison to our internal strategic and performance
objectives. As part of this review, we may acquire other businesses, further invest in, fully divest and/or sell-off parts of our

currcnt businesses.

Financing activities. Net payments on all of our borrowings for fiscal 2003, 2002 and fiscal 2001 were $23.3 million, $36.5
million and $61.3 million, respectively. We continued to focus on debt reduction during fiscat 2003, evidenced by the reduction in
our debt to invested capital percentage, which improved to 18.7 percent at the end of fiscal 2003 compared to 26.0 percent at the
end of fiscal 2002. The majority of our long-term debt at the end of the year, $38.4 million, consisted of bank borrowings under a
syndicated revolving credit facility. We expect to reduce debt further during fiscal 2004.

We initiated a common stock repurchasc program in fiscal 2003 to buy back 1.5 million shares. We completed the program by
paying out $18.0 million throughout the year for an average price of $12.00 per share. The Company also purchased $1.5 million
of Company stock for various incentive compensation plans. In April 2003, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of an
additional 1.5 million shares. Stock purchases may be made from time to time in the open market at prevailing market prices. It is
our present intention to usc the program solcly to offset the dilutive impact of management stock option exercises and to fund our

equity-based compensation plans.
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Other financing activities. The following summarizes our significant contractual obligations that impact our liquidity:

Future Cash Payments Due by Period

(In thousands) ‘ 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total
Borrowings under credit facility 5 - 5§ — § - $38,400 3 - 5 - $38,400
Industrial revenuc bonds - - - -— - 8,400 8,400
Other long-term debt 540 308 150 - —— - 998
Operating leases (undiscounted) 14,596 10,879 7,743 6,598 5,546 824 46,186
Purchase commitments 1,225 1,225 1,021 - — — 3,471
Other obligations ' 417 _25 — _ — _— — 442
Total cash obligations $16,778 $12,437 $8,914 $44,998 $5.546 24 $97,897

During fiscal 2003, we entered into a four-year, unsecured, committed, revolving credit facility in the amount of $125.0 million.
This credit facility requires us to maintain levels of net worth and certain financial ratios. These ratios include maintaining an
intcrest coverage ratio (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) -divided by interest cxpense) of
morc than 3.0 and a debt-to-EBITDA ratio of less than 3.0. At March 1, 2003, these ratios were 15.4 and 0.8, respectively. If we
are not in compliance with these ratios at the end of any quarter (with respect to intercst coverage) or at the end of any day (with
respect to debt-to-EBITDA ratio), the lender may terminate the commitment and/or declare any loan then outstanding to be due.
This credit facility replaced the Company’s previously existing $125.0 million secured credit facility. The weighted-average
intcrest rate for borrowings under these agreements during fiscal 2003 and 2002 was 3.3 percent and 6.5 percent, respectively.

During fiscal 2003, $1.0 million of variable rate industrial bonds were issued and the resulting proceeds were loaned to the
Company to finance a portion of our capital projects in Wausau, WI. During fiscal 2002, $2.0 million of variable rate industrial
revenue bonds were issued and the resulting procceds were loaned to us to finance a portion of our capital projects in Faribault,
MN and McCook, IL. The industrial revenue bonds in the total above are supported by $8.4 million of letters of credit that reduce
our availability of funds under the $125.0 million credit facility. These letters of credit are not reflected in the standby letters of
credit in the table below.

From time to time, we acquire the use of certain assets, such as retail shops, warehouses, automobiles, forklifts, vehicles, office
equipment and some manufacturing equipment through operating leases. Many of these operating leases have termination
penaltics. However, because the assets are used in the conduct of our business operations, it is unlikcly that any significant portion
of these operating leases would be terminated prior. to the normal expiration of their leasc terms. Therefore, we consider the risk
related to termination penalties to be minimal.

The purchase commitments sct forth in the table above relate to contractual obligations that expire on December 31, 2005, with a
third party that provides call center operations for our Auto Glass segment retail business. The contract is structured such that there
is a minimum number of units that must be processed through the third party’s facility. The amounts listed in the above table are
equivalent to the minimum number of units rcquired during the year at the minimum contractual price. The contract includes a
buy-out provision that diminishes over time. The provision amounts are $7.5 million and $5.0 million for fiscal year 2004 and
20035, respectively. The other obligations relate to noncompete and consulting agreements with former employces.

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period
(In thousands) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total

Standby letters of credit 3530 5 - 337 3108 § - 34,712 $5,437

In the ordinary course of business, predominantly in our instailation business, we arc rcquired to commit to bonds that require
payments to our customers for any non-performance. The outstanding face value of the bonds fluctuates with the value of
installation projects that are in process and in our backlog. At March 1, 2003, these bonds totaled $107.0 million. We have never
becen required to pay on these performance-based bonds.

The Company maintains interest rate swap agreements that effectively convert $25.0 million and $10.0 million of variable rate
borrowings into fixed rate borrowings at 5.8 percent and 4.5 percent, respectively. The swap agreements expire in fiscal 2006 and
2005, respectively.

We experienced a material increase in our risk retention for our third-party product liability coverages in fiscal 2003, and were able
to continue this coverage with increased premiums for fiscal 2004. A material construction project rework event would have a

material adversc effect on our operating results.

21



For fiscal 2004, we belicve that current cash on hand, cash generated from operating activitics, and the available credit facility
should be adequate to fund our working capital requircments and planned capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate
enough cash through operations to satisfy our working capital requirements and planned capital expenditures, we have available
funds from our committed revolving credit facility.

Off-balance sheet activities. With the exception of routine operating leascs, we had no off-balance sheet financing at March I,
2003 or March 2, 2002.

Outlook

Overall revenue growth for fiscal 2004 versus fiscal 2003 is anticipated to be in the low single digits, with year-on-year growth
occurring in the second half.

—  Our Architectural segment is expected to have revenues that are flat to slightly above fiscal 2003, with second half growth
dependent on backlog timing and improving market conditions. Commercial construction market forecasters arc now
projecting a turnaround in early calendar 2004,

—  Our Auto Glass segment revenues arc cxpected to be slightly above fiscal 2003, as growth in retail will be slightly offsct
by competitive pricing in manufacturing.

—  Qur LSO segment revenues are expected to grow in the high single digits through expanded distribution of value-added
picture-framing glass products and further penetration of the projection television and othcr consumer electronic industries
with new products featuring anti-reflective coatings on glass and acrylic.

Gross margin percentages arc expected to decline slightly, as productivity improvements and cost controls somewhat offset
increases in wages and insurance costs. We expect selling, general and administrative expenses tc be flat as a percent of sales. We
expect the results from the equity in affiliates to show a slightly higher loss in comparison to fiscal 2003 due to competitive market
conditions in the auto glass industry. We expect the effective tax rate to be 31 percent.

Earnings per share are expected to be in the low end of the range of $0.85 to $0.93, with a year-over-year decline in the first
quarter, followed by improvement in the balance of the year. In order for us to be in the higher end of the range, the market
conditions in the commercial construction industry must improve more rapidly than we currently anticipate.

Recently Issued Accounting Prenouncements

In Junc 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
Under SFAS No. 142, amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets has ceased and instead the carrying valuc of
these assets will be evaluated for impairment by applying a fair-value based test annually, or immediately if conditions indicate that
such impairment could exist. This statement also requires a reassessment of the useful lives of identifiable intangible asscts other

than goodwill.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 effective March 3, 2002, and has discontinued the amortization of goodwill. The Company
has determined that it does not have intangible assets with indefinitc useful lives. An initial assessment of the recoverability of
goodwill recorded on the date of adoption was completed in the second quarter of 2003. Additionally, we performed our annual
impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2003. No impairment was present upon performing either of the impairment tests. The fair
value of each of our reporting units was estimated using discounted cash flow methodologies. In addition, the Company reassessed
the useful lives of its identifiable intangible assets and determined that the lives were appropriate. The Company will test goodwill
of each of its reporting units for impairment annually in connection with its fourth quarter planning process or more frequently if
impairment indicators exist.
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if the Company had been accounting for its goodwill and intangible assets under SFAS No. 142 for all prior periods presented, the
Company’s net income and earnings per common share would have been as follows:

(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001
Net income:
Reported net earnings $29,915 $26,142 $15,002
Add back amortization expense, net of tax — 1,646 1,361
Adjusted net income $29,915 $27,788 $16,363
Eamnings per share - basic ‘
Reported earnings per share $1.09 $0.94 $0.54
Impact of amortization expense, net of tax —- 0.06 0.05
Adjusted camings per share - basic $1.09 $1.00 30.59
Earnings per share - diluted :
Reported carnings per share $1.06 $0.91 $0.54
Impact of amortization cxpense, net of tax — 0.06 0.05
Adjusted earnings per share - diluted $1.06 $0.97 $0.59
Weighted average common shares outstanding /
Basic 27,521 27,910 27,675
Diluted 28.347 28,817 27,898

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. This statement
addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment and disposal of long-lived assets. The Company adopted this
standard on March 3, 2002, with no impact to its consolidated financial statements in fiscal 2003.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of SFAS Nos. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13, and Technical
Corrections. The significant items from SFAS 145 that are relevant to the Company are the statements regarding extinguishment of
debt and the accounting for sale-leaseback transactions. The provisions of this statement are applicable for fiscal years beginning
after, transactions entcred into after and financial statcments issued on or subsequent to May 15, 2002. The adoption of this
statement has not had a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal. This statement addresses
financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) Issuec No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). The provisions of this statement arc effective for exit or disposal activities
initiated after December 31, 2002. The Company expects that adoption of this statement will not have a significant impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issucd SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an
amendment of FASB No. 123. SFAS No. 148 provides alternative transition methods for companics that make a voluntary change
to the fair-value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the
disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method
of accounting for stock-bascd employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. We have adopted the
disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 in these consolidated financial statements, and its adoption had no impact on our
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. Interpretation No. 45 claborates on the cxisting disclosure requirements
for most guarantees, including loan guarantees. It also clarifics that at the time an entity issues a guarantce, the issuing entity must
recognize an initial liability for the fair value of the obligations it assumes under that guarantee. However, the provisions related to
recognizing a liability at inception of the guarantee for the fair value of the guarantor’s obligations do not apply to product
warranties, guarantees accounted for as derivatives, or other guarantees of an entity’s own future performance. We have adopted
the disclosurc requircments of the interpretation as of March 1, 2003. The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions
apply on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after March 1, 2003. We have not yet determined the effect of
adopting the initial recognition and measurement provisions on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies

Management has evaluated the accounting policics and estimates used in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements
and related notes and believes thosc policies and estimates to be reasonable and appropriate. We believe that the most critical
accounting policies and estimates applied in the presentation of our financial statements relate to accounting for future events.
Future cvents and their effects cannot be determincd with absolute certainty. Therefore, management is required to excrcise

23




judgment both in assessing the likelihood that a liability has been incurred as well as in estimating the amount of potential loss. We

have identified the following accounting policies as critical to our business and in the understanding of our results of operations and

financial position:

~  Revenue recognition — Most of our sales are generally unconditional sales that are recorded when product is shipped and
invoiced to our customers. Normally our sales terms are “free on board” shipping point (FOB shipping point) for our product
sales. However, approximately 19 percent of our consolidated sales and 32 percent of our Architectural segment sales are
recorded on a percentage-of-completion basis as it relates to rcvenue earned from construction contracts. Under this
methodology, we compare the total costs incurred to date to the total cstimated costs for the contract and record that proportion
of the total contract revenue in the period. Contract costs include materials, labor and other direct costs related to contract
performance. Provisions are established for estimatcd losses, if any, on uncompleted contracts in the period in which such
losses are determined. Amounts representing contract change orders, claims or other items arc included in sales only when
customers have approved them. A significant number of cstimates are used in these computations.

—  Goodwill impairment — To determine if there has been any impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 142, we evaluate the
goodwill on cur balance sheet annually, or more frequently if impairment indicators exist. We base our determination of value
using a discounted cash flow methodology that involves significant judgments based upon projections of future performance.
The forecasts reflecied in the valuation of our retail auto glass reporting unit assumes that we will successfully turnaround and
outperform expectations for the auto glass replacement market. There can be no assurances that thesc forecasts can be
attained. Changes in strategy and/or market conditions may result in adjustments to recorded asset balances.

—  Reserves for disputes and claims regarding product liability and warranties — From time to time, we are subjcct to claims
associated with our products and services, principally as a result of disputcs with our customers involving our Architectural
products. The time period from when a claim is asserted to when it is resolved either by dismissal, negotiation, settlement or
litigation can be several years. While we maintain product liability insurance, the arrangements include significant self-
retention of risk in the form of policy deductibles. In addition, certain claims could be determined to be uninsured. We
reserve based on our estimates of known claims, as well as anticipated claims for possible product warranty and rework costs.

—  Reserves for discontinued operations — We reserve for the remaining estimated future cash outflows associated with the exit
from discontinucd operations. The majority of these cash expenditures are expected to be made within the next three years.
The primary componcnts of the accruals relate to the remaining exit costs from the international curtainwall operations of our
large-scale construction business. These long-term accruals include settlement of outstanding performance bonds, of which the
precise degree of hability related to these matters will not be known until they are settied within the French and U.X. courts.
We also reserve for product liability issucs and the related legal costs for specific projects completed both domestically and
internationally. We reserve based on known claims, estimating their expected losses, as well as anticipated claims for possible
product warranty and rework costs for these discontinued operation projects. .

—  Self-insurance reserves — We obtain substantial amounts of commercial insurance for potential losses for general liability,
workers’ compensation and automobile liability risk. However, an amount of risk is retained on a sclf-insured basis through a
wholly owned insurance subsidiary. Reserve requirements are established based on actuarial projections of ultimate losses.
Additionally, we maintain a self-insurance reserve for our health insurance programs maintained for the benefit of our eligible
employees. We estimatc a rescrve based on historical levels of amounts incurred, but not reported.

As part of our ongoing financial reporting process, a collaborative effort is undertaken involving Apogee managers with
responsibility for financial reporting, credit, product and project management, quality, legal, tax and cutside advisors such as
consultants, engineers, lawyers and actuaries. The results of this cffort provide management with the necessary information on
which to base their judgments on thesc future events and develop the estimates used to prepare the financial statements. We
believe that the amounts recorded in the accompanying financial statements related to these cvents are based on the best estimates
and judgments of the appropriatc Apogee management. However, outcomes could differ from our estimates and could matcrially
adversely affect our future operating results, financial position and cash flows.

Ferward-Looking Statements

This discussion contains “forward-looking statements” within the mecaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
These statements reflect the Company’s current views with respect to future events and financial performance. The words
“believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “project,” “should” and similar expressions are intended to
identify “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All forecasts
and projections in this document are “forward-looking statements,” and are based on management’s current expectations or beliefs
of the Company’s near-term results, based on current information available pertaining to the Company, including the risk factors

noted below.

The Company wishes to caution investors that any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Company are subject to
uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from such statements. These uncertaintics and
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other risk factors include, but are not limited to, those noted below. There can be no assurances that Apogee’s architectural
segment, which serves high-end markets with value-added products, will not be further impacted by the continued slowed cconomy.
In addition, there can be no assuranccs that Harmon AutoGlass will reverse its loss of market share or overcome pricing pressures
in the challenging auto replacement glass market. There can be no assurances that PPG Auto Glass, Apogec's automotive
replacement glass distribution joint venture with PPG Industries, will achieve favorable long-term operating results. There also can
be no assurances that the Large-Scale Optical segment businesses will continue to increase revenues year-over-year.

A number of other factors should be considered in conjunction with this report’s forward-looking statements, any discussion of
operations or results by the Company or its representatives and any forward-looking discussion, as well as comments contained in
press relcases, presentations to securities analysts or investors, or other communications by the Company. These other factors are
set forth in the cautionary statcment filed as Exhibit 99.1 to thc Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, and include, without
limitation, cautionary statements rcgarding changes in economic and market conditions, factors related to competitive pricing,
quality, facility utilization, new product introductions, scasonal and cyclical conditions and customer dcpendency. Also included
are other risks related to financial risk, self-insurance, environmental risk and discontinued operations. New factors emerge from
time to time and it is not possiblc for management to predict all such factors, nor can it assess the impact of each such factor on the
business or the extent to which any factor, or a combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our principal market risk is sensitivity to intercst ratcs, which is the risk that changes in interest rates will reduce net carnings of the
Company. To manage our direct risk from changes in market intcrest ratcs, management actively monitors the interest sensitive
components of our balance sheet, primarily debt obligations, as well as market interest rates in order to minimize the impact of
changes in interest rates on net carnings and cash flow.

We use interest swaps to fix a portion of our variable rate borrowings from fluctuations in interest rates. As of March 1, 2003, we
had interest swaps covering $35.0 million of variable rate debt. The net present liability associated with these swaps is $3.2 million
at the end of fiscal 2003.

The primary measure of interest rate risk is the simulation of net income under different interest rate cnvironments. The approach
used to quantify interest rate risk is a sensitivity analysis. This approach calculates the impact on net carnings, relative to a base
case scenario, of rates increasing or decreasing gradually over the next 12 months by 200 basis points. This change in interest rates
affecting our financial instruments would result in approximately a $0.04 million impact to net carnings. As interest rates increase,
net earnings decrease; as interest rates decreasc, net earnings increasc.

We have a policy of using forward-exchange contracts to hedge our net exposures, by currency, related to the foreign currency-
denominated monetary asscts and liabilities, and future firm commitments of our operations. Forward-exchange contracts arc also
used from time to time to manage near-term foreign currency cash requirements. The primary objective of these hedging activities
is to maintain an approximately balanced position in foreign currencies so that exchange gains and losses resulting from cxchange
rate changes, net of related tax effects, are minimized.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related information arc the responsibility of management. They have been
prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include amounts that are
based on our best estimates and judgments under existing circumstances. The financial information contained elsewhere in this
report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.

We maintain internal accounting control systems that are adequate to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded from
loss or unauthorized use and that our financial records provide a reliable basis for the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements. We believe our systems are effective, and the costs of the systems do not cxceed the benefits obtained. These systems
of control are supported by the selection of qualified personncl, by organizational assignments that provide appropriate division of
responsibilities and by the dissemination of written finance policies. This control structure is further supported by a program of
internal audits.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has reviewed the financial data included in this report. The Audit Committee,
comprised entirely of independent directors, assists the Board of Directors in monitoring the integrity of our financial statements,
the effectivencss of our internal audit function and independent accountants, and our compliance systems. In carrying out these
responsibilities, the Audit Committee meets regularly with management to consider the adequacy of our internal controls and the
objectivity of our financial reporting. The Audit Committee also discusses these matters with our independent accountants, with
appropriate personnel from our finance organization and with our internal auditors, and meets privately on a regular basis with the
indcpendent accountants and internal auditors, each of whom reports and has unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

The role of the independent accountants is to render an independent, professional opinion on management’s consolidated financial
statements to the extent required by auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Their report expresses
an indcpendent opinion on the faimess of presentation of our consolidated financial statements.

We recognize the responsibility to conduct our affairs according to the highest standards of personal and corporate conduct. This
responsibility is reflected in our compliance policy and in our code of cthics and business conduct, which are distributed to all

employees.

/s/ Russell Huffer
Russell Huffer
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Michael B. Clauer
Michael B. Clauer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

26



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Apogee Enterpriseé, Incorporated:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 1, 2003,
and the related consolidated results of opcrations, statement of cash flows, and statement of changes in shareholders' equity for the
year then ended. Our audit also includes the financial statement schedule listed in the Table of Contents at Item 15. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. The consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedulc of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 2, 2002, and for each of the two years in the period ended March
2, 2002, were audited by other auditors who have ceased opcrations. Those auditors expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements, and stated that such 2002 and 2001 financial statcment schedule fairly state in all material
respects the financial data required to be sct forth therein in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, in their
report dated April 2, 2002.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Thosc standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurcs in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company
at March 1, 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the
information sct forth thercin.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective March 3, 2002, the Company changed its method of
accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets.

As discussed above, the consolidated financial statcments of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. as of March 2, 2002, and for each of the two
years in the period ended March 2, 2002, were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. As described in Note 1, these
consolidated financial statements have been revised to include the transitional disclosures required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (Statement) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which, as described in Note 1, was adopted by
the Company as of March 3, 2002. Our audit procedures with respect to the disclosures in Note 1 with respect to 2002 and 2001
included (i) agreeing the previously reported net income to the previously issued consolidated financial statcments and the
adjustments to reported net income representing amortization expense (including any related tax effects) recognized in those
periods related to goodwill, which is no longer being amortized, as a result of initially applying Statement No. 142 (including any
related tax effects) to the Company's underlying records obtained from management, and (ii) testing the mathematical accuracy of
the reconciliation of adjusted nct income to reported net income, and the related eamnings-per-share amounts. In our opinion, the
disclosures for 2002 and 2001 in Notc 1 are appropriate. However, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures
to the 2002 and 2001 consolidated financial statements of the Company other than with respect to such disclosures and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2002 and 2001 consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 2, 2003

(April 9, 2003 as to Note 10)
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The following audit report of Arthur Andersen LLP, our former independent auditors who have ceased their operations, is a
copy of the original report dated April 2, 2002, rendered by Arthur Andersen LLP on our consolidated financial statements
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 19, 2002, and has not been reissucd by Arthur Andersen LLP since

that date.

Report of Independent Public Accountants

To Apogee Enterprises, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. (a Minnesota corporation) and
subsidiaries as of March 2, 2002 and March 3, 2001, and the related consolidated results of operations, statcments of
- shareholders' equity and cash flows for the three years ended March 2, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also inciudes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 2, 2002 and March 3, 2001, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for the three years ended March 2, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United
States.

Cur audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The schedule
listed in the index of financial statements is presented for purposes of complying with the Securities and Exchange
Commission's rules and is not part of the basic financial statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly states in all material respects the
financial data required to be set forth thercin in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Arthur Andersen LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 2, 2002
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

. March 1, March 2,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,166 $ 15361
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 115,114 115,159
Inventories 36,796 36,022
Deferred tax assets 5,549 4,875
Other current assets 3,838 3,667
Total current assets. 171,463 175,084
Property, plant and equipment, net 114,527 128,515
Marketable securities available for sale - 16,373 22,825
Investments in affiliated companies 19,752 22,110
Goodwill 55914 55,614
Intangible assets, at cost less accumulated amortization of $928 and $5,820, respectively 1,851 1,024
Other assets 2,961 3,944
Total assets $ 382,841 $ 409,116
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 57,090 $ 51,887
Accrued expenses 48,445 57,766
Current liabilities of discontinued operations, net 2,600 3,740
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts 4,401 6,127
Accrued income taxes 7,352 7,079
Current installments of long-tcrm debt 540 640
Total current liabilities 120,428 127,239
Long-term debt, less current installments 47,258 69,098
Long-term self-insurance reserves 13,696 12,056
Other long-term liabilities 14,049 13,811
Liabilities of discontinued operations, net 9,200 15,978
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 7 and 17)
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock of $0.33-1/3 par valuc; authorized 50,000,000 shares;
issued and outstanding, 27,203,000 and 28,334,000, respectively 9,068 9,445
Additional paid-in capital 52,623 50,521
Retained eamnings 120,859 113,382
Common stock held in trust (5,179) (4,555)
Deferred compensation obligations 5,179 4,555
Unearned compensation (2,482) (1,547)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,858) (867)
Total sharcholders’ cquity 178,210 170,934
Total liabilities and shareholders’ cquity $ 382,841 $409,116

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year-Ended Year-Ended Year-Ended
" (Tn thousands, except per share data) March 1, 2003 March 2,2002  March 3, 2001
Net sales $771,839 $802,315 $865,200
Cost of sales 585,772 614,587 686,203
Gross profit 186,067 187,728 178,997
Selling, general and administrative expenses 144,373 143,601 147,103
Operating income 41,694 44,127 31,894
Interest income 930 2,021 1,983
Interest expense 4,469 7,293 12,879
Other income (expense), net 958 57 (226)
Equity in (loss) income of affiliated companies (2,530 (1,026) 1,465
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes 36,583 37,886 22,237
Provision for income taxes 10,243 11,744 8,876
Earnings from continuing operations 26,340 26,142 13,361
Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 3,5'75 — 1,641
Net earnings $ 29.915 $ 26,142 $ 15,002
Eamings per share — basic
Continuing operations $0.96 $0.94 $0.48
Discontinued operations 0.13 — 0.06
Net earnings $1.09 $0.94 $0.54
Earnings per share - diluted
Continuing operations $0.93 $0.91 $0.48
Discontinued operations 0.13 - 0.06
Net carnings $1.06 $0.91 $0.54
Weighted average basic shares outstanding 27,521 27,910 27,675
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 28,347 28,817 27.898

See accompanying notes fo consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year-Ended Year-Ended Year-Ended
- (In thousands) ‘ : March 1, 2003 March 2, 2002 March 3, 2001
Operating Activities
Net earnings $29915 $26,142 $15,002
Adjustments to reconcile net eamnings to net cash provided by
operating activities: )
Net earnings from discontinued operations (3,575) -— (1,641)
Depreciation and amortization 24,271 28,051 34,606
Deferred income taxes (1,680) (515) 4,832
Resuits from equity investments 2,530 1,026 (1,465)
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets (3,758) (1,935) 2,102
Other, net : (1,450) (1,266) 2,824
Changes in opcrating assets and liabilities, net of cffect of acquisitions:
Receivables 45 6,302 4292
Inventories (774) 4,539 5,394
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (1,522) (6,613) (856)
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts (1,726) (4,203) 503
Refundable and accrued income taxes 434 (655) (949)
Net cash provided by continuing operating activities 42,710 50,873 64,644
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (12,833) (10,466) (14,823)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 6,074 5,598 17,834
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (300) (247) (3,602)
(Investrments in) dividends received from equity investments (172) 2,411 (2,575)
Purchases of marketable securities (25,961) (8,438) (7,900)
Sales/maturities of marketable securities 31,627 10,383 9,570
Net cash used in investing activities (1,565) (759) (1,496)
Financing Activities
Payments on net borrowings under revolving credit agreement (22,300) (35,300) (60,500)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 1,000 2,000 -
Payments on long-term debt (640) (2,996) (203)
Payments on deferred debt expense (1,335) (223) (563)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 4,901 4,476 274
Repurchase and retirement of cornmon stock (19,547) (183) (49)
Dividends paid (6,246) (6,078) (5,834)
Net cash used in financing activitics (44,167) (38,304) (66,875)
Cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations (2,173) (1,138) 1,224
(Decrcasc) increasc in cash and cash equivalents (5,195) 10,672 (2,503)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 15,361 4,689 7,192
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $10,166 $15,361 $4,689
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities:
Net assets contributed to PPG Auto Glass, LLC (sce Note 5) $ - 5§ - $ 30,359
Net assets acquired through assumption of debt (see Note 13) — 1,500 684

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’EQUITY

(in thousands)

Common

Sharcs

Outstandini

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Eamings

- Trust

Common
Stock
Held in

Deferred
Compensation
Obligation

Uneamed
Compensation

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive
{Loss) Income

Comprehensive
Eamnings

Balance at
February 26, 2000
Net earnings
Unrealized gain on
markectable securities,
net of $407 tax expense
Issuance of stock, net of
canccllations
Purchase of stock by
employee, net
Amortization of restricted
stock
Tax benefit associated
with stock plans
Exercise of stock options
Other share retirements
Cash dividends ($0.21
per share)
Balance at
March 3, 2001

Net eamings

Unrcalized gain on
marketable securities,
net of $112 tax expense

Initial impact of adoption
of SFAS No. 133, net
of $672 tax benefit

Unrealized loss on
derivatives, net of $257
tax benefit

Issuance of stock, net of
cancellations

Purchase of stock by
employee, net

Amortization of restricted
stock

Tax benefit associated
with stock plans

Exercisc of stock options

QOther share retirements

Cash dividends ($0.215
per share)

Balance at
March 2, 2002

Net earnings

Unrealized loss on
marketable securitics,
net of $276 tax benefit

Unrealized loss on
derivatives, net of $292
tax benefit

Issuance of stock, net of
cancellations.

Purchase of stock by
employee, nct

Amortization of restricted
stock

Tax benefit associated
with stock plans

Exercise of stock options

Share repurchases

Other share rctirements

Cash dividends {($0.225
per share)

Balance at
March 1, 2003

27,743

94

(13

$9,248
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345,106 $84,608
— 15,002
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1,017

$458

207

(1,109)

(423)

§15,762
$26,142
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(423)

28,334

216
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(111)

39,445
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(500)
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$56,521 $113,382
—_— 29,915
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1,421 —

(2,872) (14,628)
(193) (1,317)

- (6,246)

$(4,555)

(1,899

964

$(867)

(511

(480)

$24,817
$29,915

(511)

(480)

27,203

$9,068

$52,623 $120.859

$(5,47%)

5(2,482)

$(1,858)

$28,924

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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"NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Related Data

Basis of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Apogee Enterprises, Inc., a
Minnesota corporation, and all majority-owned subsidiaries (the Company). Transactions between Apogee and its
subsidiarics have been eliminated in consolidation. The cquity method is used to account for the Company's joint ventures,
and, as a result, our share of the carnings or losscs of such equity affiliates is included in the Results of Operations. Certain
amounts from prior-years’ financial statements have been reclassified to conform with this year’s presentation. Apogee’s
fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to February 28. Fiscal years 2003 and 2002 cach consisted of 52 weeks, while fiscal
2001 consisted of 53 weeks.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Investments with an original maturity of three months or less are included in cash and cash
equivalents.

Inventories. Inventories, which consist primarily of purchased glass and aluminum, arc valucd at the lower of cost or
market. Approximately 94 percent of the inventories are valued by use of the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method, which docs
not exceed market. If the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method had been used, inventories would have been $2.9 million and $3.4
million higher than reported at March 1, 2003, and March 2, 2002, respectively.

Property, Plant and Equipment. Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost. Significant improvements and
renewals are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. When property is retired or otherwise
disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any related gains or losses
are included in income. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis, based on estimated useful lives of 25 years for
buildings, 3 to 15 years for machinery and equipment, and 3 to 10 years for office equipment

Financial Instruments. Unless otherwise noted, the Company’s financial instruments approximate fair value.

Goodwill and Other Intangibie Assets. Goodwill represents the excess of the cost over the net tangible and identified
intangible assets of acquired businesses. We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, March 3, 2002. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested at least annually for impairment. Intangible assets with discrete
useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated uscful lives.

Long-Lived Assets. The carrying value of long-lived assets such as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is
reviewed when circumstances suggest that the assets have been impaired. We consider many factors, including short- and
long-term projections of future performance associated with these assets. If this review indicates that the long-lived assets
will not be recoverable based on the estimated undiscounted cash flows over the remaining amortization period, the carrying
value of such assets is reduced to estimated fair value. '

Self-Insurance. The Company obtains commercial insurance for potential losses for general liability, workers'
compensation and automobile liability risk. However, a reasonable amount of risk is rctained on a self-insured basis
through a wholly owned insurancc subsidiary, Prism Assurance, Inc. (Prism). Rescrve requirements are established based
on actuarial projections of ultimate losses. Losses estimated to be paid within 12 months are classificd as accrued expenses,
while losses expected to be payable in later periods arc included in other long-term liabilities. Additionally, we maintain a
sclf-insurance reserve for our health insurance programs maintained for the benefit of our eligible employees. We estimate
a reserve bascd on historical levels of amounts incurred, but not reported.

Revenue Recoguitior. Revenue from the sale of products or services provided and the related cost of sales are recorded
upon shipment or as services are rendered. Generally, our sales terms are “free on board” shipping point (FOB shipping
point) for our product-typc sales. The Company recognizes revenuc from construction contracts on a percentage-of-
completion basis, measured by the percentage of costs incurred to date to estimated total costs for each contract. Contract
costs include materials, labor and other direct costs related to contract performance. Provisions are cstablished for
cestimated losses, if any, on uncompleted contracts in the period in which such losses are determined. Amounts representing
contract change orders, claims or other items arc included in salcs only when they have been approved by customers.
Approximately 19 percent, 19 percent and 15 percent of our consolidated sales in fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
were recorded on a percentage-of-completion basis.
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Income Taxes. The Company accounts for income taxes as prescribed by SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes,
which requires use of the asset and liability method. This method recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilitics based upon
the future tax consequences of temporary differences between financial and tax reporting.

Stock-Based Compensation. Pursuant to SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, we account for
activity under our stock-based employee compensation plans under the recognition and measurcment principles of
Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Accordingly, we do not
recognize compcensation expense in connection with employee stock option grants because we grant stock options at
cxercise prices not less than the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant.

The following tablc shows the cffect of net earnings and carnings per sharc had we applied the fair value expense
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to stock-based employee
compensation.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001
Net earnings -
As reported $29915 § 26,142 $ 15,002
Compensation expense, net of income taxes 1,480 955 3316
Pro forma $28435 § 25,187 $ 11,686
Earnings per share — basic
Asreported $ 109 3 094 $ 054
Pro forma 1.03 0.90 0.42
Earnings per share — diluted
As reported $§ 106 $ 091 $ 054
Pro forma 1.00 0.87 0.42
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic 27,521 27,910 27,675
Diluted 28,347 28,817 27,898

The above pro forma amounts may not be representative of the effects on reported net earnings for future years. The
weighted average fair value per option at the date of grant for options granted in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001 was
$6.24, $4.23 and $1.86, respectively. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 2003, 2002 and 2001:

2003 2002 2601

Dividend yield 1.7% 2.4% 4.4%
Expected volatility 67.4% 67.3% 60.5%
Risk-free interest rate "2.5% 4.4% 7.5%
“Expected lives 4.6years 4.6 years 3.9 years

Accounting Estimates. The preparation of the consolidated financial statcments in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
asscts and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements
and the reported amounts of net sales and expenses during the reporting period. Amounts subject to significant estimates
and assumptions include, but are not limited to, assessment of recoverability of long-lived assets, including goodwill,
insurance reserves, warranty reserves, rescrves related to discontinued operations, net sales recognition for construction
contracts, and the status of outstanding disputes and claims. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

New Accounting Standards. In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Under SFAS No. 142,
amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets has ceased and instead the carrying valuc of these assets will
be evaluated for impairment by applying a fair-value based test annually, or immediatcly if conditions indicate that such an
impairment could exist. This statement also requires a reassessment of the uscful lives of identifiable intangible assets other

than goodwill.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 effective March 3, 2002 and has discontinued the amortization of goodwill and has
determined that it does not have intangible assets with indefinitc useful lives. An initial assessment of the recoverability of
goodwill recorded on the date of adoption was completed in the second quarter of fiscal 2003. Additionally, we performed
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our annual impairment test in the second quarter of fiscal 2003. No impairment was present upon performing either of the
impairment tests. The fair value of each of our reporting units was estimated using discounted cash flow methodologies. In
addition, the Company reassessed the useful lives of its identifiable intangible assets and determined that the lives were
_ appropriate. The Company will test goodwill of each of its reporting units for impairment annually in connection with its
fourth quarter planning process or more frequently if impairment indicators exist.

If the Company had been accounting for its goodwill and intangible assets under SFAS No. 142 for all prior periods
presented, the Company’s net income and earnings per common share would have been as follows:

(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001

Net income:
Reported net earnings $29,915  $26,142 $15,002
Add back amortization expense, net of tax — 1,646 1,361
Adjusted net income $29.915 $27,788 $16,363
Earnings per share — basic
Reported earnings per share $1.09 $0.94 30.54
Impact of amortization expense, net of tax -— 0.06 0.05
Adjusted camings per share — basic $1.09 -$1.00 $0.59
Earnings per share ~ diluted
Reported earnings per share $1.06 $0.91 $0.54
Impact of amortization expense, net of tax ' — 0.06 0.05
Adjusted earnings per share -- diluted $1.06 $0.97 $0.59
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic 27,521 27,910 27,675
Diluted 28,347 28,817 27,898

In August 2001, the FASB issucd SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. This
statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment and disposal of long-lived assets. The Company
adopted this standard on March 3, 2002, with no impact to its consolidated financial statements.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of SFAS Nos. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13, and
Technical Corrections. The significant items from SFAS 145 that are relevant to the Company are the statements regarding
extinguishment of debt and the accounting for sale-leaseback transactions. The provisions of this statement are applicable
for fiscal years beginning after, transactions entered into after and financial statements issucd on or subsequent to May 15,
2002. The adoption of this statement has not had a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In July 2002, the FASB issucd SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal. This statement
addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies Emerging
Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs
to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).. The provisions of this statement are effective for
exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The Company expects that adoption of this statcment will not
have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure — an amendment of FASB No. 123. SFAS No. 148 provides alternative transition methods for companies that
make a voluntary change to the fair-valuc-based method of accounting for stock-based employce compensation. In addition,
SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require disclosures in both annual and interim
financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method
used on rcported results. 'We have adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 in these consolidated financial
statements, and its adoption had no impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. Interprctation No. 45 claborates on the existing
disclosure requirements for most guarantees, including loan guarantces. It also requires whenever an entity issues a
guarantee after December 31, 2002, the issuing entity must recognize an initial liability for the fair value of the obligations it
assumes under that guarantce. However, the provisions related to recognizing a liability at inception of the guarantee for the
fair value of the guarantor’s obligations do not apply to product warranties, guarantees accounted for as derivatives, or other
guarantees of an entity’s own future performance. We have adopted the disclosure requirements of the interpretation as of
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March 1, 2003. We have not yet determined the effect of adopting the initial recognition and measurement provisions on
our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

2 Working Capital

Receivables
(In thousands) 2003 2002
Trade accounts $ 88,549 $ 89,552
Construction contracts ' 20,680 22,817
Contract retainage 8,672 6,816
Other receivables 1,198 1,838
Total receivables 119,099 121,023
Less allowance for doubtfual accounts (3,985) {(5,864)
Net receivables - $115,114 $ 115,159
Inventories
(In thousands) 2003 2002
Raw materials $ 14,016 $16,235
Work-in-process 5,129 5,807
‘Finished goods 8,323 9,351
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts 9,328 4,629
Total inventories $ 36,796 $ 36,022
Accrued Expenses
(In thousands) 2003 2002
Payroll and related benefits $ 20,916 $ 23,802
Insurance 8,888 10,908
Taxes, other than income taxes 3,265 3,437
Pension 5,287 4,160
Warranties . 2,388 3,311
Interest 458 525
Other 7,243 11,623
Total accrued expenses $ 48,445 $ 57,766

3 Property, Plant and Equipment

(In thousands) ' 2003 2002
Land $ 3,545 $ 4,185
Buildings and improvements 84,584 88,506
Machinery and cquipment . 133,796 129,006
Office equipment and furniture 55,262 55,463
Construction in progress 2,023 4,818
Total property, plant and equipment 279,210 281,978
Less accumulated depreciation (164,683) (153,463)
Net property, plant and equipment $ 114,527 $ 128,515

Depreciation expense was $23.3 million, $24.7 million and $31.9 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

4 Marketable Securities

The Company's wholly owned insurance subsidiary, Prism, insures a portion of the Company’s workers' compensation,
general liability and automobile liability risks using reinsurance agrcements to meet statutory requirements. The reinsurance
carrier requires Prism to maintain fixed maturity investments for the purpose of providing collateral for Prism's obligations
under the reinsurance agreement. Prism's fixed maturity investments are classified as “available for sale” and are carried at
market value as prescribed by SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.
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Unrealized gains and losses are reported in a separate component of shareholders’ equity, net of income taxes, until the
investments are sold. The amortized cost, gross unrcalized gains and losses, and estimated fair values of investments
available for sale at March 1, 2003 and March 2, 2002 are as follows:

Gross Gross Estimated
"Amortized = Unrealized  Unrealized Market

(in thousands) : Cost Gains Losses Value
March 1, 2003

Municipal bonds $16,136 $ 241 $4) $16373
Total investments $16,136 $ 241 $) $ 16,373
March 2, 2002

Municipal bonds $21,801 $1,028 $@ $ 22,825
Total investments $21,801 $1,028 $(4) $ 22,825

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of investments at March 1, 2003 by contractual maturity arec shown below.
Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturitics as borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations
with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Amortized Estimated

(in thousands) ' Cost Market Value
Due within one year $ 130 $ 130
Due after one year through five years ' ' 8,409 8,563
Due after five years through ten years 3,409 3,469
Due after ten years through fiftecn years — -
Due beyond fifteen years 4,138 4211
Total $16,136 $16,373

Gross realized gains of $1.1 million, $0.1 and $0 and gross realized losscs of $0.1, $0 million and $0.2 million were
recognized in fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and are included in other income, net in the accompanying
Consolidated Results of Operations.

5 Equity Investments

In fiscal 2001, the Company and PPG Industries, Inc. (PPG) combined their U.S. automotive replacement glass distribution
businesscs into a joint venture, PPG Auto Glass, LLC (PPG Auto Glass), of which the Company has a 34 percent intcrest.
On March 1, 2003, the Company’s investment in PPG Auto Glass was $19.4 million. At March 1, 2003, the excess of the
cost of the investment over the value of the underlying net tangible assets when the joint venture was formed was $7.3
million. This excess is reported as goodwill. In connection with the formation of PPG Auto Glass, the Company agreed to
supply the joint venture, through PPG, with most of the Company's windshicld fabrication capacity on market-based terms
and conditions. In addition, the Company's automobile windshield repair and replacement business agreed to purchase at
least 75 percent of its windshield nceds from PPG Auto Glass on market-based terms and conditions. Purchases from PPG
Auto Glass were $44.0 million, $44.8 million and $29.0 million for fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Amounts
owed to PPG Auto Glass were $6.9 m.\lhon, $5.5 million and $7.3 million at the end of fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2002, thc Company, PPG and PPG Auto Glass amended the windshield supply
agreements to adjust pricing for the windshields manufactured and sold to more accurately reflect market pricing. As a
result of thesc amendments, a portion of earnings that would have previously been reported in equity in income from
affiliated companies was reported in operating income in the Auto Glass segment for the current and prior years.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2002, the Company decided to discontinue funding TerraSun, LLC, its research and
development joint venturc of which the Company bad a 50 percent interest. As a result, TerraSun discontinued its
operations and sold its tangible assets. In connection with the closure of TerraSun, we acquired TerraSun’s proprietary
technology. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company donated the patented technology developed by TerraSun to
the 1llinois Institute of Technology (IIT). Until the TerraSun patents expire, the Company will have a first right of refusal
for the purchase of any architectural product applications developed by IIT based on these patents.

The Company’s share of earnings for its affiliated companics is beforc income taxes and, in fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001,
included $0.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of amortization of the excess cost over the value of the underlying net
tangible assets and expenses retained by the Company.
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6 Goodwill and Other Identifiable intangible Assets

. The change in the carrying amount of goodwill, net of accumulated amortization, attributable to each business segment for
the year ended March 1, 2003 was as follows:

Corporate
Large-Scale Auto and
(In thousands) Architectural Optical Glass Other Total
Balance, March 2, 2002 $24,178 $10307 $12954 $8,175 $55614
Contingent purchase price payment — 300 - -— 300
Balance, March 1, 2003 $24,178 310,607 $ 12954 $38,175 355914

The Company's identifiable intangible assets with finitc lives are being amortized over their estimated useful lives and are
detailed below.

2003 2002

Gross Gross
Carrying  Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
(In thousands) Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net
Debt issue costs $ 1,798 $(419) $1379 $2,404 $ (1,482) $ 922
Other : 981 (509) 472 4,440 {4,338) 102
Total $ 2,779 $(928) $ 1,851 $ 6,844 $ (5,820) $1,024

Amortization expense on these identifiable intangible assets was $0.5 million in 2003. The estimated future amortization
expense for identifiable intangible assets during the next five years is as follows:

(In thousands) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Estimated amortization expense $ 486 8 476 $476 $187 $25

7 Long-Term Debt

During fiscal 2003, the Company entered into a four-year, unsccured, revolving credit facility in the amount of $125.0
million. This credit facility requires us to maintain levels of net worth and certain financial ratios. These ratios include
maintaining an interest coverage ratio (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) divided by
interest expense) of more than 3.0 and a debt-to-EBITDA ratio of less than 3.0. At March 1, 2003, these ratios were 15.4
and 0.8, respectively. If the Company is not in compliance with thesc ratios at the end of any quarter (with respect to
interest coverage) or at the end of any day (with respect to debt-to-EBITDA ratio), the lender may tcrminate the
commitment and/or declare any loan then outstanding to be due. This credit facility replaced the Company’s previously
existing $125.0 million secured credit facility. '

(In thousands) 2003 2002
Borrowings under revolving credit agreement, interest at 2.69% for 2003 and 3.65% for 2002 $ 38,400 $ 60,700
Other, interest at 1.35% for 2003 and 1.49% for 2002 9,398 9,038
Total long-term debt ' , 47,798 69,738
Less current installments (540) {640)
Nct long-term debt $ 47,258 $ 69,098

The Company’s $8.4 million of industrial revenue bonds, included in the total above, arc supported by $8.4 million of
letters of credit that reduce the Company’s availability of funds under the $125.0 miilion credit facility.

Long-term debt maturitics are as follows:

(In thousands) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total
Maturities $ 540 $308 $ 150 $ 38,400 $0 $8,400 $47,798
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Selected information related to bank borrowings is as follows:

(In thousands, except percentages) 2003 2002
. Average daily borrowings during the year . _ $53,295 § 83,894
Maximum borrowings outstanding during the year 69,738 108,800
Weighted average interest rate during the year 3.3% 6.5%

The Company has entered into an interest rate swap agreement that effectively converts $10.0 million of variable rate
borrowings into a fixed-rate obligation. This agreement, which was sct to cxpire in February 2004, was extended to
February 2005. The Company rcccives payments at variable ratcs while making payments at a fixed rate of 4.54 percent.
Prior to the extension, the fixed rate was 5.955 percent. The Company also has entered into an interest rate swap agreement
that effectively converts $25.0 million of variable rate borrowings into a fixed-rate obligation. This agrecment, which was
sct to expire in December 2004, was extended to December 2005. The Company receives payments at variable rates while
making payments at a fixed rate of 5.75 percent. Prior to the cxtension, the fixed rate was 6.665 percent. The net interest
paid or received associated with these agreements is included in interest expense.

The variable to fixed interest rate swaps are designated as and are effective as cash-flow hedges. The fair value of these
swaps was a liability of $3.2 million and $2.5 million at March 1, 2003 and March 2, 2002, respectively, and was included
on the balance sheet with other long-term liabilities, with changes in fair values included in other comprehensive income.
Derivative gains and losses included in other comprchensive income are reclassified into earnings at the time the related
interest expense is recognized or the settlement of the related commitment occurs. We estimate $1.2 million of net
derivative losses will be reclassified into earnings in fiscal 2004. No hedging relationships were de-designated during fiscal
2003,

8 Interest Expense

(In thousands) 2003 20602 2001
Interest on debt $3,693 $6,633 $ 12,610
QOther intercst expense - 776 660 269
Total interest expense $ 4,469 $7,293 $ 12,879

Intcrest payments were $4.5 million, $7.5 million and $12.3 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
9 Employee Benefit Plans

The Company maintains a qualified defined contribution pension plan that covers substantially all full-time, non-union
employees. Contributions to the plan are based on a percentage of employees’ base eamnings. Deposits of the pension costs
with the trustce are made annually. All pension costs were fully funded or accrued as of year-cnd. Contributions to the plan
were $5.2 million, $4.3 million and $4.7 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company froze the qualified defined contribution pension plan, and amended the 401(k)
savings plan to add a contribution that will be made by the Company annually, which is based on a percentage of employee's
base earnings. In addition, the Company raised the maximum amount that employees are allowed to contribute to the plan
from 13 percent to 60 percent, up to statutory limits. The Apogee match of 30 percent of the first 6 percent of the employee
contributions remains unchanged. Effective July 1, 2002, the assets in the frozen qualified defined contribution pension
plan were merged into the 401(k) savings plan resulting in a single 401(k) retirement savings plan. Contributions to the plan
were $2.1 million, $1.7 million and $2.0 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

10 Shareholders’ Equity and Stock Option Plans
A class of 200,000 shares of junior preferred stock with a par valuc of $1.00 is authorized, but unissued.

The Company has a Sharcholders’ Rights Plan, under which each share of outstanding common stock has an associated
preferred share purchase right. The rights are exercisable only under certain circumstances, including the acquisition by a
person or group of 10 percent of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock. Upon exercise, the rights would
allow holders of such rights to purchasc common stock of Apogec or an acquiring company at a discounted price, which
generally would be 50 percent of the respective stock’s current fair market value.
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The 2002 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan and the 1997 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plans”) provide for the issuance
of 1,800,000 and 2,500,000 shares, respectively, for various forms of stock-based compensation while the 1987 Stock
_ Option Plan provides for the issuance of 2,500,000 options to purchase Company stock. Options awarded under these
Plans, either in the form of incentive stock options or nonstatutory options, are exercisable at an option price equal to the
fair market value at the date of award. The 1987 Plan has expired and no new grants of stock options may be made under
this Plan.

A summary of option fransactions under the Plans for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001 follows:

Options Outstanding
Number of Average QOption Price
Shares Exercise Price Range
Balances, February 26, 2000 : 1,659,435 $13.15 $ 4.48-325.00
Options granted 728,100 4.80 3.75- 581
Options exercised (1,250) 4.19 . 4.19- 4.19
Options canceled (274,507) 10.28 3.97- 17.75
Balances, March 3, 2001 2,111,778 $10.67 $ 3.75-$25.00
Options granted 560,200 8.83 8.60- 14.40
Options exercised (123,509) 8.15 4.19- 16.75
Options canceled (84,090) 8.43 4.81- 16.75
Balances, March 2, 2002 2,464,379 $10.45 $ 3.75-$25.00
Options granted 619,160 12.86 8.95- 13.10
Options exercised (216,280) 6.83 4.31- 14.00
Options canceled {203,400) 10.68 4.19- 25.00
Balances, March 1, 2003 2,663,859 $11.20 $ 3.75- $19.25

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at March 1, 2003:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Remaining Weighted- Weighted-
Number Contractual Average Number Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

$ 3.75-85.00 362,889 7.1 years $4.64 144,064 $ 447
5.01- 10.00. 608,640 6.9 years 8.26 227,350 8.02
10.01- 15:00 1,222,830 7.3 years 12.79 668,247 12.83
15.01- 25.00 469,500 3.2 years 15.94 . 467,625 15.94
2,663,859 6.5 years $11.20 1,507,286 $12.27

The Amended and Restated 1987 Partnership Plan, a plan designed to increase the ownership of Apogee stock by key
employees, allows participants selected by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors to use carned incentive
compcensation to purchase Apogee common stock. The purchased stock is then matched by an equal award of restricted
stock, which vests over a predetermined period. In accordance with EITF 97-14, Accounting for Compensation
Arrangements Where Amounts Earned are Held in a Rabbi Trust and Invested, the Company’s stock is recorded at
historical cost and classified as Common Stock Held in Trust. Since the investments are all in Company stock, an offsetting
amount is recorded as Deferred Compensation Obligations in the equity section of the balance sheet. Common shares of
3,200,000 are authorized for issuance under the Plan with an additional 1,000,000 shares authorized, subject to the approval
of shareholders at the Company’s 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. As of March 1, 2003, 3,166,000 shares have been
issued or committed under the Plan. The Company expensed $2.5 million, $2.3 millicn and $1.8 million in conjunction with
the Partnership Plan in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

During fiscal 2003, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for a total of 1,500,000 shares. The

Company has repurchased all of the 1,500,000 shares authorized for a total of $18.0 million. On April 9, 2003, the Board
of Directors aunthorized the repurchasc of an additional 1.5 million shares.

40



The following table summarizes the accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income at March 1, 2003 and March 2, 2002.

(in thousands) 2003 2002

Net unrcalized gain on marketable securities § 154 665

Net unrealized loss on derivatives (2,012) (1,532)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (1,858) $ (867)

11 Income Taxes

The components of income tax expense (benefit) for each of the last three fiscal ycars are as follows:

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Current:

Federal $ 10,583 $ 10,752 $ 3,642
State and local 1,340 1,507 402
Total current $ 11,923 $ 12259 $ 4,044
Deferred:

Federal $ (1,536) $ (692) $ 4,282
State and local (144) 177 550
Total deferred $ (1,680) $ (515 $ 4,832
Income tax expense:

Continuing operations $ 10,243 $ 11,744 $ 8,876
Discontinued operations 2,170 — 384
Total income tax expense $ 12,413 $ 11,744 $ 9,760

Income tax payments, net of refunds, were $12.0 million, $13.0 million and $4.5 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.

The differences between statutory federal tax rates and consolidated cffective tax rates are as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Statutory federal tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 2.1 2.9 2.8
Tax credits 1.2) (1.5) 3.3)
Foreign sales corporation (0.8) 0.5) (0.8)
Goodwill amortization — 1.2 1.8
Meals and entertainment ' 0.6 0.7 1.3
Charitable contributions 3.8) — —
Tax reserves (3.8) 5.9 4.9
Other, net (0.1 0.9) (1.8)
Consolidated effective tax rate 28.0% 31.0% 39.9%

Tax benefits for deductions associated with the stock-based incentive plans amounted to $0.2 million, $0.4 million and $0.2
million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These benefits were added directly to additional paid-in capital and were not
reflected in the determination of income tax expense.
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at March 3, 2001 and March 2, 2002 are as follows:

2003 2002
(In thousands) Current Noncurrent Current Nomncurrent
. Accounts receivable . $ 1,794 3 — $ 2,297 3 -—_
Accrued insurance - 3,001 — 3,031
Deferred compensation 37 6,641 37 5,747
Restructuring reserve 460 1,632 — —_
Inventory 1,357 — 999 —_
Depreciation — (3,818) —_ (2,822)
Employee benefit plans 41 — (182) —
Mark-to-market interest rate swaps — 1,221 — 929
Other 1,860 (6,518) - 1,724 (3,855)
Deferred tax assets $ 5,549 $ 2,159 $ 4875 $ 3,030

12 Discontinued Operaticons

During fiscal 2001, the Company completed the sale of substantially ail of the assets of VIS’N Service Corporation
(VIS’N), a non-auto glass focused, third-party administered claims processor, in two separate transactions with no impact to
net earnings. VIS'N is presented as a discontinued operation in the consolidated financial statements and notes. Prior
periods have been restated.

At March 1, 2003, accruals totaling $11.8 million represented the remaining estimated future cash outflows associated with
the cxit from discontinued operations. During fiscal 2003, we reduced our estimates of these liabilities by $5.7 million
($3.6 million, net of tax) as a result of favorable resolution of certain exposures as well as from reductions in estimated
future liabilities for the discontinued European curtainwall operations. Additionally, we made $2.2 million of payments
related to warranty and legal costs. The majority of these cash expenditures arc expected to be made within the next three
years. The primary components of the reserve relate to the remaining exit costs from previously discontinued businesses.
In several transactions in fiscal years 1998 through 2000, the Company completed the sale of its large-scale domestic
curtainwall business, the sale of the Company’s detention/security business and its exit from international curtainwall
operations. The long-term elements within the reserve relating to the international curtainwall operations include bonds
outstanding of which the precise degree of liability related to these matters will not be known until they are settled within
the U.K. and French courts. Additionally, any long-term product liability issues, consisting of warranty and rework issues,
on these international construction projects are rescrved.

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Earpings from Operations of Discontinued Businesses

Net sales 5 — $ — $2,750
Earnings before income taxes 5,745 . — 2,525
Income tax expensc 2,170 — 884
Earnings from operations, net of income taxes 3,575 — 1,641
(In thousands) 2003 2002
Net Liabilities of Discontinued Operations

Current assets : $ 1,100 $ —
Accrued liabilities (12,900) (19,718)
Net liabilities of discontinued operations (11,800) (19,718)
Less net current liabilities of discontinued operations 2,600 3,740
Net long-term liabilities of discontinued opcrations $ (9,200 $ (15,978)

13 Acquisitions

In fiscal 2002 and 2001, the Large-Scale Optical Technologies segment expanded its pre-framed art business by purchasing
threc high-end pre-framed art companics. The aggregate purchase price of these businesses was $6.0 million, including the
assumption of $2.2 million in debt, and resulted in recording $4.5 million as goodwill. In fiscal 2003, the contingent
purchase price payment associated with these pre-framed art business acquisitions was incurred and recorded as additional

goodwill in the amount of $0.3 million.
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In fiscal 2002 and 2001, liabilitics of $1.5 million and $0.7 million, respectively, were assumed in the above transactions.
All of the above transactions were accounted for by the purchiasc method. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
include the net assets and results of operations from the dates of acquisition.

14 Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

Quarter

(In thousands, except per share data) First Second Third Fourth Total
Fiscal 2003
Net sales $184,709 $200,282 $199,166 §187,682 §771,839
Gross profit 45,952 51,795 45,261 43,059 186,067
Eamnings from continuing operations 5,238 8,568 7,561 4,973 26,340
Earnings from discontinued operations - - — 3,575 3,575
Net eamnings : 5,238 8,568 7,561 8,548 29,915
Eamings per share — basic

From continuing operations 0.19 0.31 028 0.18 0.96

From discontinued operations — - - 0.13 0.13

Net earnings 0.19 0.31 0.28 0.31 1.09
Earnings per share — diluted

From continuing operations 0.18 0.30 0.27 0.18 0.93

From discontinued operations — -— -— 0.13 0.13

Net earnings 0.18 0.30 0.27 0.31 1.06
Fiscal 2002
Net sales $203,606 $210,233 $200,293 3188,183 §802,315
Gross profit 45304 51,400 45,811 45,213 187,728
Eamings from continuing operations 5,602 10,341 5,844 4,355 26,142
Eamings from discontinucd operations - -— - -— -
Net carnings 5,602 10,341 5,844 4,355 26,142
Earnings per share — basic

From continuing operations 0.20 0.37 0.21 0.16 0.94

From discontinued operations - - s — —_— -

Net carnings 0.20 0.37 0.21 0.16 0.94
Earnings per share — diluted

From continuing operations 0.20 0.36 0.20 0.15 091

From discontinued operations - — - - -

Net carnings 0.20 0.36 0.20 0.15 0.91

15 Earnings Per Share

The following table presents a reconciliation of the share amounts used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per
share:

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Basic earnings per share - weighted common shares outstanding 27,521 27,910 27,675
Weighted common shares assumed upon exercise of stock options 429 596 63
Unvested shares held in trust for deferred compensation plans 397 311 160
Diluted eamnings per share - weighted common shares and potential common shares outstanding 28,347 28,817 27,898

There were 1,697,000, 881,000 and 1,498,000 stock options cxcluded in fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, from the
computation of diluted earnings per share duc to their anti-dilutive effect.
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16 Business Segments Data

The Company's segments are aligned to match the markets they serve. The segments are Architectural Products and
+ Services (Architectural), Automotive Replacement Glass and Services (Auto Glass), and Large-Scale Optical Technologics
(LSO). The Architectural segment designs, engineers, fabricates, installs, services and renovates walls of glass and
windows comprising the outside skin of commercial and institutional buildings. The Auto Glass segment fabricates, repairs
and replaces automobile windshields and windows. The LSO scgment develops and produces high technology glass that
enhances visual performance of products for the display, imaging and picture-framing industries.

(In thousands) 2003 20602 2001

Net Sales

Architectural $458.811 35479364 $ 441,466

Auto glass S , 233,380 255,133 333,311

Large-scale optical ‘ 79,705 67,829 90,768

Intersegment climination (57) (1) (345)
Total $771,839 $802,315 $865,200

Operating Income

Architectural $ 32,134 $ 34396 $ 27,393
Auto glass 7,926 16,088 1,429
Large-scale optical . 3,694 (4,350) 4,571
Corporate and other (2,060)  {2,007) (1,499
Total 5 41694 § 44,127 $ 31,894

Depreciation and Amortization

Architectural $ 1538 $ 16,617 $ 16,111
Auto glass 5,108 6,527 11,873
Large-scale optical 2,409 3,292 5916
Corporate and other 1,368 1,615 706
Total $ 24271 $ 28,051 § 34,606
Capital Expenditures
Architectural $ 9925 § 5078 $ 6,257
Auto glass 2,029 3,i01 5,922
Large-scale optical 822 2,229 2,677
Corporate and other , 57 58 (33)
Total $ 12,833 §$ 10466 § 14,823
Identifiable Assets
Architectural $203,903 $225038 $225,668
Auto glass 72,220 84,508 96,595
Large-scale optical 51,431 53,781 68,489
Corporate and other 55,287 45,789 41,927
Total $382,841 $409,116 §$432,679

- The Company’s fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002 investment in the PPG Auto Glass joint venture of $19.4 million and $21.7
million, respectively, and the marketable securities held for sale at the Company’s wholly owned insurance subsidiary of
$16.4 million and $22.8 million, respectively, are included in the identifiable asscts for corporate and other.

Apogee’s export net sales of $37.2 million, $35.0 million and $40.0 million for fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
were less than 10 percent of consolidated net sales cach year. No single customer, including government agencics, accounts
for 10 percent or more of consolidated net sales. Segment operating income is net sales less cost of sales and operating
cxpenses. Opcrating income does not include provision for interest expense or income taxes. “Corporate and other”
includes miscellaneous corporate activity not allocable to business segments.
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17 Commitments and Contingent Liabilitieé

. Operating lease commitments

As of March 1, 2003, the Company was obligated under noncancelable operating lcascs for buildings and equipment.
Certain leases provide for increased rentals based upon increases in real estate taxes or operating costs. Future minimum
rental payments under noncancelable operating leases are:

(In thousands) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total -
Total minimum payments $ 14,596 $ 10,879 $7,743 $6,598 $ 5,546 $824 $ 46,186

Total rental expense was $28.3 million, $22.9 million and $21.8 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

During fiscal 2002 and 2001, the Company entered into agrcements for the sale and leaseback of certain production
equipment, which are sngmﬁcant to the operations of the busincsscs. The sale price of the equipment was $2.1 million and
$16.0 million, respectively. Under these and its other sale and leaseback agreements, the Company has an option to
purchase the equipment at projected futurc fair market value upon expiration of the leases, which occurs in fiscal 2007,
2008 and 2009. The leases are classified as operating leases in accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases.

Under the Company’s sale and leaseback transactions, a total gain of $9.7 million has been deferred and is being recognized
over the terms of the leases. The March 1, 2003 and March 2, 2002 unamortized portion of the deferred gain of $6.3
million and $7.5 million, respectively, is included in the balance sheet captions accrued expenses and other long-term
liabilities. The average annual lease payment over the lifc of these leases is $4.8 million.

Bond commitments

In the ordinary course of business, predominantly in our installation busincss, we are required to commit to bonds that
require payments to our customers for any non-performance. The outstanding face value of the bonds fluctuates with the
value of installation projects that are in process and in our backlog. At March 1, 2003, these bonds totaled $107.0 million.
We have never been required to pay on these performance-based bonds.

Purchase commitments

The Company has purchase commitments of $1.2 million in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005 and $1.0 million in fiscal 2006.
These purchase commitments relate to contractual obligations that expire on December 31, 2005, with a third-party that
provides call center operations for our Auto Glass retail business. The contract is structured such that there is a minimum
number of units that must be processed through the third-party’s facility. The contract includes a buy-out provision that
diminishes over time. The provision amounts are $7.5 million and $5.0 million for fiscal years 2004 and 2005, respectively.

Guarantees and warranties

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB interpretation No. 45 (FIN 45), Guarantors Accountmg and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 requires liability to be
recognized at the time a company issues a guarantee for the fair value of the obligations assumed under certain guarantee
agreements. Additional disclosurcs or guarantee agreements are also required in the interim and annual financial statements.
The disclosure requirements of FIN 45 are effective for the years ending after December 15, 2002. The liability recognition
requircments are effective January 1, 2003.

The Company accrues for warranty and claim costs as a percentage of sales based on historical trends. Actual warranty and
claim costs are deducted from the accrual when incurred. At the beginning of fiscal 2003, warranty and claim accruals were
$3.3 million, with additional expense incurred of $0.7 million, offset by credits of $1.6 million. The accrual related to
warrantics and claims at the end of the year was $2.4 million. ‘

Letters of credit

At March 1, 2003, the Company had ongoing letters of credit related to its risk management programs, construction
contracts and certain industrial development bonds. The total valuc of letters of credit under which the Company is
obligated as of March 1, 2003 was approximately $15.1 million, of which $8.4 million is issued and has reduced our total
availability of funds under our $125.0 million credit facility.
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Non-compete agreements
The Company has entered into a number of noncompete and consulting agreements associated with former employees. As
of March 1,2003, future payments of $0.4 million were committed under such agreements.

Litigation
The Company has been a party to various legal proceedings incidental to its normal operating activities. In particular, like
others in the construction supply industry, the Company's construction supply businesses are routinely involved in various
disputes and claims arising out of construction projects, sometimes invelving significant monetary damages or product
replacement. Although it is very difficult to accurately predict the outcome of such proceedings, facts currently available
indicate that no such claims will result in losses that would have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows of the Company.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL

DISC]LOS_URE

On April 11, 2002, the Company determined not to re-engage its independent auditors, Arthur Andersen LLP (“Arthur
Andersen”) and appointed Deloitte & Touche LLP (D&T) as its new independent auditors, effective upon Arthur Andersen’s
completion of the audit for the fiscal-year ended March 2, 2002. This determination followed the Company’s decision to
seek proposals from independent accounting firms with respect to the engagement of independent accountants to audit the
Company’s financial statements for the fiscal-year ending March 1, 2003. The deccision not to re-engage Arthur Andersen
and to retain D&T was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on April 11, 2002, upon the recommendation of its
Audit Committee.

The reports of Arthur Andersen on the financial statements of the Company for the fiscal years ended March 2, 2002 and
March 3, 2001 did not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to
uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles. During the Company’s fiscal years ended March 2, 2002 and March 3,
2001 and the subsequent interim period through April 11, 2002, there were no disagreements between the Company and
Arthur Andersen on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or
procedure which, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Arthur Andersen, would have caused Arthur Andersen to make
reference thereto in their report on the financial statements for such years. In addition, the Company believes that, during the
fiscal years ended March 2, 2602 and March 3, 2001 and through April 11, 2002, there had been no “reportable events” (as
defined in Item 304 (a) (1) (v) of Regulations S-K of the Sccurities and Exchange Commission).

The Company did not, during the Company’s fiscal years ended March 2, 2002 and Marck 3, 2001 prior to the auditor
change and the subscquent interim period through April 11, 2002, consult with D&T regarding (i) the application of
accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be
rendered on the Company’s financial statements, as a result of which either a written report was provided to the Company or
oral advice was provided that D&T concluded was an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as
to the accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue, or (ii) any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement with
Arthur Andersen or a “reportable event”.

The Company reported the change in accountants on Form 8-K on April 18, 2002. The Form 8-K contained a Ietter from
Arthur Andersen, addressed to the Securities and Exchange Commission, stating that it agreed with the comments in the
second sentence of the second paragraph of the above statements, and was not in a positicn to agree or disagree with the
comuments in the remainder of the above statements.

PARTIII

ITEM 1¢. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item, other than the information set forth in Part I above under the heading “Executive
Officers of the Registrant”, is set forth under the headings “Proposal 1: Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance" in the Proxy Statement for the Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held
on June 17, 2003, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after our fiscal year-
end. This information is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is set forth under the headings “Executive Compensation” (other than the

- Compensation Committee Report) and “Information Regarding the Board of Directors ~ Director Compensation” in the
Proxy Statement for the Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 17, 2003, which will be filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after our fiscal ycar-end. This information is incorporated herein
by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this item is set forth under the headings “Security Ownership of Principal Shareholders”,
“Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers” and “Proposal 2: Approval of Amendment to the Amended and
Restated 1987 Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Partnership Plan — Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statement
for the Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 17, 2003, which will be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commiission within 120 days after our fiscal year-end. This information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is set forth under the headings “Information Regarding the Board of Directors —
Compensation of Directors” and “Certain Relationships and Related Tramsactions” in the Proxy Statement for the
Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 17, 2003, which will be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission within 120 days after our fiscal year-end. This information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedurcs. Within 90 days prior to the date of this report, we carried out an
evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rule 13a-14 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the evaluation date, our disclosure controls and procedures
are effective at alerting them on a timely basis of material information required to be included in our periodic filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

b) Changes in internal controls. There have been no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that
could significantly affect our disclosure controls and procedurcs subsequent to the date of our evaluation.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
a) List of documents filed as a part of this report:
1. Financial Statements — The consolidated financial statements of the Registrant are set forth in Item 8 of Part II of

this report.
2. Financial Statement Schedules — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at Charged to Deductions Balance at
Beginning of Costs and from Erd of
(in thousands) Period Expenses Reserves (1) Period
Allowances for doubtful receivables
For the year ended March 1, 2003 $ 5,864 $ (662) $1,217 $3,985
For the year ended March 2, 2002 8,942 871 3,949 5,864
For the ycar ended March 3, 2001 10,540 1,638 3,236 8,942

(1) Net of recoverics

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission have been omitted because they are not applicablc or the required information is shown in
the financial statements or notes thereto.
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b)

c)

3. Exhibits — See Item (c) below.

Reports on Form §-K
During the quarter ended March 1, 2003, the Company did not file any reports on Form 8-K.

Exhibits marked with an asterisk (*) identify each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. Exhibits
marked with a double asterisk (**) are filed herewith. The remainder of the exhibits have heretofore been filed with the
Commission and are incorporated herein by reference.

Exhibit
Ne.

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*
10.5%

10.6*

[0.7*

10.8%

10.9*

10.10%

10.11

10.12
10.13*

10.14

10.15

10.16*

Restated Articles of Incorporation. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3A to Registrant's Annual Report
on Form 10-K for year ended February 27, 1988.

" Restated By Laws of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3B to Registrant's

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 30, 1998.

Specimen ccrtificate for shares of common stock of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4A to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 2, 2002.

Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated November 12, 2001, between Registrant and Bank of
New York. Incorporated by reference to Registrant's Form 8-A/A filed on November 30, 2001.

Amended and Restated 1987 Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Partnership Plan. Incorporated by reference to
Appendix A-2 to the Registrant's Schedule 14A Information Proxy Statement filed in connection with the
June 19, 2001 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, filed May 10, 2001.

Employment Agreement between Registrant and Richard Gould dated May 23, 1994. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 101 to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for year ended February 25, 1995.
Amendment to Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Employment Agreement with Richard Gould dated July 7, 1998.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended November 28, 1998.

1987 Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Stock Option Plan. Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s S-8
registration statement dated July 18, 1990.

1997 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of Registrant’s proxy
statement for the 1997 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, filed May 16, 1997.

Resignation Agreement between Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and James L. Martineau. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November
28, 1998.

Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Officers’ Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 28, 1998.
First Amendment of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Officers’ Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, dated
May 11, 1999. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10J to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form [0-K for
the year ended February 27, 1999.

Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Executive Supplemental Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 28, 1998.

Forms of Severance Agreement between the Company and certain senior executive officers of the
Company. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10P to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended March 3, 2001.

Stock Purchase Agreement dated November 10, 1998 between Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and CompuDyne
Corporation. Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Current Report on Form: 8-K filed November 10,
1998.

Stock Purchase Agreement between the Company and CH Holdings, Inc. Incorporated by reference to
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 23, 1999.

Deferred Compcensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of the
Registrant’s proxy statement for the 1999 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, filed May 17, 1999.
Contribution and Assumption Agreement dated June 13, 2000, among PPG Industries, the Company,
certain subsidiaries of the Company and PPG Auto Glass. Incorporated by reference to Registrant's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 1, 2000.

Limited Liability Company Agreement dated June 13, 2000, between PPG Industries and the Company.
Incorporated by reference to Registrant's Currcnt Report on Form 8-X filed on August 1, 2000.

Apogee Enterprises, Inc. 2002 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of
Registrant’s proxy statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, filed May 14, 2002.
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10.17*

10.18

10.19*

16

2[**

23.1**
23.2%*
99.1**
99.2%+*

99.3**

Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Exccutive Management Incentive Plan. Incorporated by refercnce to Exhibit B
of Registrant’s proxy statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, filed May 14, 2002.

Credit Agreement dated as of April 25, 2003 between Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and banks party to the
agreement, including related contribution and subsidiary guaranty agreements. Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 1, 2002.
Employment Agreement between Registrant and Joseph T. Deckman effective as of July 16, 2002.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended November 30, 2002.

Change in Independent Public Accountants. Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on April 18, 2002.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

Notice Regarding Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP

* Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 - Cautionary Statement

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. A
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to

Scction 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

49




- SIGNATURES -

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on May 8, 2003.

APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.

By: /s/ Russeil Huffer

Russell Huffer
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Pursuant to the requirements of the Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities on May 8, 2003. .

Signaturc Title Signature Title
Executive VP &
Chairman, President, CFO (Principal
CEOQ and Director Financial and
(Principal Executive Accounting
/s/ Russell Huffer Cfficer) /s/ Michael B. Clauer Officer)
Russell Huffer Michael B. Clauer
/s/ Bernard P. Aldrich Director /s/ James L. Martincau Director
Bemard P. Aldrich James L. Martineau
/s/ Robert L. Edwards Director /s/ Stephen C. Mitchell Director
Robert L. Edwards Stephen C. Mitchell
/s/ Donald W. Goldfus Director /s/ Laurence J. Niederhofer Director
Donald W. Goldfus ‘ Laurence J. Niederhofer
/s/ Barbara B. Grogan Director /s/ Ray C. Richelson Director
Barbara B. Grogan Ray C. Richelson
/s/ Harry A. Hammerly Director /s/ Michael E. Shannon Director
Harry A. Hammerly Michael E. Shannon
/s/ J. Patrick Homer Director

J. Patrick Horner
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Russell Huffer, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Apogee Enterprises, Inc., certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Apogee Enterprises, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Bascd on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and proccdures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ¢nsurc that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this annual report is being prepared,

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days
prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date™); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the

registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the
registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent
to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

Date: May 8, 2003

/s/ Russell Huffer

Russell Huffer
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Michael B. Clauer, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Apogee Enterprises, Inc., certify that:

1. 1have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Apogee Enterprises, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual repon
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entitics, particularly during
the period in which this annual report is being prepared,

b) cvaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days
prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date™); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

S. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent function):
a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the

registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the
registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent
to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any correctlve actions with regard to significant deficiencies and

material weaknesses.

Date: May 8§, 2003

/s/ Michael B. Clauer

Michael B. Clauer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

The Company is the owner of all of the issued and outstanding stock of the following corporations, except as noted below.

Statc or Country of
Name of Subsidiary Incorporation
Apogee Enterprises International, Inc. Barbados
Prism Assurance, Ltd. Vermont
Harmon, Inc. ' Minnesota
Harmon Contract, Inc. Minnesota
Harmon Contract Asia, Ltd. (1) Minnesota
Harmon Contract Asia Sdn Bhd (2) Malaysia
Harmon Contract UK., Limited (3) United Kingdom
Harmon Europe S.A. (4) (7) France
Viracon, Inc. Minncsota
Viratec Thin Films, Inc: (5) Minnesota
Viracon Georgia, Inc. (5) Minnesota
Viracon/Curvlite, Inc. Minnesota
Tru Vue, Inc. Illinois
Harmon Giass Company Minnesota
Apogee Sales Corporation (6) South Dakota
Apogee Harmon, Inc. (7) Minnesota
Apogee Wausau Group, Inc. Wisconsin
Harmon CFEM Facades (UK) Ltd. (7) (8) United Kingdom
Harmon/CFEM Facades S.A. (7) (9) France
Harmon Facalu S.A. (7) (9) France
Harmon Sitraco S.A. (7) (9) France
Harmon Voisin S.A. (7) (9) France
VIS’N Service Corporation (7) (10) Minnesota
Balangier Designs, Inc. (11) New Jersey
Viracon Asia, Inc. Minnesota

Owned by Harmon Contract, Inc.

Owned by Harmon Contract Asia, Ltd.

99.99% owned by Harmon Contract, Inc. and .01% by Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
100% owned by various Apogee entities

Owned by Viracon, Inc.

Owned by Harmon Glass Company

Inactive

99.99% owned by Harmon Europe S.A. and .01% by Apogee Enterpriscs, Inc.
Owned by Harmon Europe S.A.

99.6% owned by Harmon Glass Company

Owned by Tru Vue, Inc.
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Exhibit 23.1

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-43734, 33-60400, 333-20979, 333-32437,
33-13302, 33-66574, 333-58181, 333-58165, 33-35944, 333-95863, 333-95855, and 333-100618, of our report dated April
2, 2003, (April 9, 2003 related to Note 10) relating to the consolidated financial statements of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and
subsidiarics as of and for the year ended March 1, 2003 (which expresses an unqualified opinion and includes explanatory
paragraphs relating to the change in method of accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets and related disclosures of
financial statement amounts related to the March 2, 2002 and March 3, 2001 financial statcments that were audited by other
auditors who have ceased operations and for which we have expressed no opinion or other form of assurance other than with
respect to such disclosures} appearing in this Annual Reporting on Form 10-K of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. for the year
ended March 1, 2003.

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota,
May 8, 2003

54



Exhibit 23.2

- NOTICE REGARDING CONSENT OF ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

We have attempted and have been unable to obtain from Arthur Andersen LLP a consent for the reissuance of their report
on our financial statements as of and for the period ended March 2, 2002, as required by Section 7 of the Sccurities Act of
1933, as amended (the Securities Act). Accordingly, investors will not be able to sue Arthur Andersen LLP, pursuant to
Section 11 (a)(4) of the Securitics Act and therefore may have their recovery limited as a result of the lack of consent.
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Exhibit 99.1

LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS

The following discussion contains certain cautionary statements regarding Apogee’s business and resuits of operations, which
should be considered by investors and others. These statements discuss matters, which may in part be discussed elsewhere in
this Form 10-K, and which may have been discussed in other documents prepared by the Company pursuant to federal
securities laws. This discussion is intended to take advantage of the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The following factors should be considered in conjunction with any discussion of operations
or results by the Company or its representatives, including any “forward-looking statements,” as well as comments contained
in press releases, presentations to securities analysts or investors, or other communications by the Company.

This discussion contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements reflect the Company’s current views with respect to future events and financial performance. The
words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “project,” “should” and similar expressions are
intended to identify “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. All forecasts and projections in this document are “forward-looking statements,” and are based on management’s
current expectations or beliefs of the Company’s near-term results, based on current information available pertaining to the
Company, including the risk factors noted below. The Company wishes to caution investors that any forward-looking
statcments made by or on behalf of the Company are subject to uncertainties and other factors that could causc actual results
to differ materially from such statements. These uncertainties and other risk factors include, but are not limited to, those
noted below.

In making these statements, the Company is not undertaking to address or update each factor in future filings or
communications regarding the Company’s business or resuits, and is not undertaking to address how any of these factors may
have caused changes to discussions or information contained in previous filings or communications. In addition, any of the
matters discussed below may have affected Apogee’s past results and may affect future results, so that the Company’s actual
results for fiscal 2003 and beyond may differ materially from those expressed in prior communications. Though the
Company has attempted to list comprchensively these important cautionary factors, the Company wishes to caution investors
and others that other factors may in the future prove to be important in affecting the Company’s business or results of

operations.
Operational Risks

Architectural Products and Services (Architectural)

The Architectural companies design, enginecr, fabricate, install, service and removate the walls of glass and windows
comprising the outside skin of commercial and institutional buildings. The companies of this segment have been, in general,
increasingly profitable, with revenue trends that have outperformed the worldwide commercial construction industry. There
can be no assurance the trends experienced by the segment will continue or that the segment will continue to be profitable.

Competitive Factors - The markets that these businesses scrve are very competitive, price sensitive and are impacted by
changes in the commercial construction industry as well as general, economic conditions. These businesses compete with
scveral large integrated glass manufacturers and numerous specialty, architectural glass fabricators. Competitors also inciude
major contractors, subcontractors and manufacturers, many of which may have greater financial or other resources than the
Company. Product capabilities, quality, pricing, service and product lead-times are the primary competitive factors in this
market. Changes in our competitor’s products, prices or services could negatively impact our ability to increase revenues,
maintain our margins and increase our market share.

Economic Factors - Economic conditions and the cyclical nature of the worldwide commercial construction industry could
have a major impact on the profitability of these businesses. Given the extended slowdown in the worldwide economy and
the fact that there is traditionally a lag as it affects the commercial construction industry, economic conditions have and may
continue to adversely impact the international and domestic construction market.

Quality Factors - We manufacture or install products based on specific requirements of each of our customers. We believe
that future orders of our products or services will depend on our ability to maintain the performance, reliability and quality
standards required by our customers. If our products or services have performance, reliability or quality problems, we may
experience delays in the collection of accounts receivables, higher manufacturing or installation costs, additional warranty
and service expenses, and reduced, cancelled or discontinued orders. Additionally, performance, reliability or quality claims

56




from our customers, with or without merit, could result in costly and time-consuming litigation that could require significant
time and attention of management and involve significant monetary damages.

Facility Utilization Factors - The Architectural segment’s near-term growth depends, to a significant degree, on its ability to
fully utilize its capacity at its production facilitics or ufilize its project managers and other employees to the fullest. The
failurc to have sufficient capacity, to fully utilize capacity when needed or to successfully integrate and manage additional
capacity in the future could adverscly affect our relationships with customers and cause customers to buy similar products
from our competitors if we are unable to meet their needs.

Automotive Replacement Glass and Services (Auto Glass)
These companies fabricate, repair and replace automobile windshiclds and windows.

Changes in Market Dynamics - This market’s pricing structure has changed significantly in recent years due to several
aspects. First, insurance companies seek volume pricing at discounted rates from historical levels and attempt to enter into
preferred or exclusive provider arrangements with a limited number of providers. Second, the market has experienced
overcapacity in recent years with the influx of forcign produced windshiclds. Third, we have seen a change in the market for
our products to more repair work rather than higher margin replacements. Finally, we are seeing a shift in the marketplace to
a labor only model, of which our retail business would experience less control over pricing. Consequently, revenues have
declined dramatically and margins have narrowed at the retail, wholesale and manufacturing levels. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to increcase market share, improve or maintain its margins, whether through
improved pricing conditions or cost savings, or that it will continue to be selected by insurance companies as a provider of
auto glass replacement and repair services on a regional or national basis on acceptable terms and conditions.

Seasonality Factors - The market that these businesses serve tends to be seasonal in nature and is influenced by a variety of
factors, including weather, new car sales, speed limits, road conditions, the economy and average annual number of miles
driven. Our revenues from this segment are historically highest during the first and sccond quarters, with first and second
quarter revenues at 26 percent and 27 percent of full year revenues, respectively, followed by third and fourth quarter
revenues at 24 percent and 23 percent, respectively. We expect this seasonality in the demand for our products to continue
into the future.

Competitive Factors - The Auto Glass segment operates in an industry that is highly competitive, fairly mature and where the
barriers to entry are not significant. The Auto Glass segment competes with other auto glags shops, glass distributors, car
dealers, body shops and fabrication facilitics on the basis of pricing, national coverage and customer service. Its competition
consists of national and regional chains as well as significant local competition. The introduction of imported auto glass
from China and other countries has increased the competitiveness of the market by driving pricing down further. The Auto
Glass segment has initiated several cost savings initiatives over the past three fiscal years to lessen the impact of reduced
margins on the operating results of the Company. Due to the above items, we expect this market to remain highly
competitive for the foresceable future and make no assurances that we will be able to grow market share or improve
profitability.

Joint Venture Factors - During fiscal 2001, the Company and PPG Industries, Inc. (PPG) combined their U.S. automotive
glass replacement distribution businesses into a newly formed entity, PPG Auto Glass, LLC (PPG Auto Glass), of which the
Company maintains a 34 percent ownership interest. As a result of this transaction, the Company’s windshield
manufacturing facility sells nearly all of its capacity to PPG. Similarly, the Company’s retail unit is committed to 75 percent
of its replaccment windshields from PPG Auto Glass. The Company expects further industry consolidation in the auto glass
retail and wholesale businesses.

There is no assurance PPG Auto Glass will achieve any anticipated efficiencies or be able to improve or maintain margins.
Additionally, if the Auto Glass segment is unable to control costs while providing required services to the insurance market,
it may not be able to remain a viable competitor in this industry. The failure by the Auto Glass segment to timely respond to
such changes could have a material adverse effect on its, and the Company’s, business, financial condition or results of
operations.

Large-Scale Optzcal Technologies (LSO)

The LSO companies develop and produce applications that enhance the visual performance of products for display, imaging
and picture-framing industries. The revenuc and profitability of the companies in this segment have been inconsistent from
year to year. Therc can be no assurance that the revenuc and profitability patterns experienced by the segment will change in
the near future.
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New Product Introduction Factors - The markets for the products of this segment are characterized by frequent refinement
and enhancement, new product introductions, short product life cycles, price sensitivity and declining average selling prices
over product life cycles. These factors require the Company to seek improvement and modifications in its manufacturing
processes on a continuous basis to reduce costs, as well as to innovate with respect to new or improved products for its
proprietary coatings to rcplace lost or declining revenues. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to meet
such requirements. Additionally, there can be no assurance that the introduction of new products by third parties will not
significantly change market conditions and product requirements.

Competitive Factors - The market for each of our products is intensely competitive and we expect competition to increase in
the future. Competitors vary in size and scope and in the breadth of the products they offer. We compete both with
companies using technology similar to ours and companies using other technologies or developing improved or alternative
technologies. Many of our current and potential competitors have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing
resources than we have. In addition, many of our competitors have well-established relationships with our current and
expected future customers and are capable of creating products that compete with our products.

Cyclical Factors - Our businesses in this segment depend, in part, on sales by manufacturers of products that require front
surface mirrors and anti-reflective acrylic as well as the retail picture-framing market. These markets are highly cyclical and
have experienced periods of oversupply resulting in reduced demand for our products. These businesses were significantly
impacted by the economic slowdown in fiscal years 2002 and 2003. During fiscal 2003, we were able to offset these
slowdowns with new products and wider distributions. If the markets do not recover or if they experience further slowdowns
in the future, it could cause revenues and operating income to decrease.

Customer Dependency Factors - We have a high dependency on a relatively small number of customers for our saies. We
continue to expect to derive a significant portion of our net sales from this smal! number of customers. Accordingly, a loss of
a large customer could matertally reduce LSO revenues and operating results in any one year.

Facility Utilization Factors - Additionally, the LSO segment’s growth is also dependent on its ability to utilize its facilities.
LSO’s retail picture-framing unit completed construction of a new etch line in fiscal 2003. In fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001,
this unit purchased three manufacturers to expand its pre-framed art business. The segment’s Viratec unit installed z new,
large-scale flat glass coating line that went on line in late fiscal 2000 that it has yet to bring to full capacity. There are no
assurances that the volume will increase to fill this capacity or that the Company will be successful initiating its LSO
strategies.

Financial Risks

Our quarterly revenue and operating results are volatile and difficult to predict. Gur revenue and operating results may fall
below expectations of securities analysts, company-provided guidance or investors in future periods. Our quarterly revenue
and operating results may vary depending on a number of factors, including, but not limited to: fluctuating customer demand
due to delay or timing of shipments, changes in product mix or market acceptance of new products; manufacturing or
operational difficulties that may arise due to quality control, capacity utilization of our production equipment or staffing
requirements; competition, including the introduction of new products by competitors, adoption of competitive technologies
by cur customers and competitive pressures on prices of our product and services. Qur failure to meet revenue and operating
result expectations would likely adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Self-Insurance Risk

We obtain substantial amounts of commercial insurance for potential losses for general liability, employment practice,
workers' compensation and automobile liability risk. However, an amount of risk is retained on a self-insured basis through a
wholly owned insurance subsidiary. Due to changes in the cost and availability of insurance, effective for fiscal 2003, we
accepted a material increase in our risk retention from our third-party product liability and general liability coverages.
Therefore, a material product liability event, such as a material rework event, could have a material adverse effect on our

operating results.
Environmental Regulation Risks
We use hazardous chemicals in producing products at two facilitics (one in our Architectural segment and one in our LSO

segment). As a result, we arc subject to a variety of local, statc and federal governmental regulations relating to storage,
discharge, handling, emission, generation and disposal of toxic or other hazardous substances used to manufacture our
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products, compliance of which is expensive. Our failure to comply with current or future regulations could result in the
imposition of substantial fines on us, suspension of production, alteration of our manufacturing processes or increased costs.

Discontinued Curtainwall Operations; Foreign Currency Risks

During fiscal 1998, the Company made the strategic decision to close or exit its European and Asian international curtainwall
operations in order to focus more selectively on higher-margin domestic curtainwall business. During fiscal 1999, the
Company decided to sell its domestic curtainwall operation and focus on manufacturing rather than large-scale installations.
The Company maintains risks associated with closing the domestic and international operations from performance bonds it
established with its customers and remaining warranty coverages that exist on completed projects. In addition, the Company
faces related risks and uncertainties, including the inability to effectively manage restructured business units and the inability
to effectively manage costs or difficulties related to the operation of the businesses or execution of restructuring or exit
activities. The Company also maintains forcign currency risk, in that unknown international exposures that might become
payable in foreign currencies are not hedged. The occurrence of one or more of such events may have a matcrial adverse
effect on the businiess, financial condition or results of operations of the Company.
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Exhibit 99.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. (the "Company™) on Form 10-K for the period
ending March 1, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Repori™), I,
Russell Huffer, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.8.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant
§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

{2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
result of operations of the Company.

/s/ Russell Huffer

Russell Huffer
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
" May 8, 2003 '

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Apogee Enterprises, Inc.

and will be retained by Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.

60




Exhibit 99.3

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period
ending March 1, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), 1,
Michae! B. Clauer, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted
~ pursuant § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The-Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and : :

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
result of operations of the Company.

/s/ Michael B. Clauer

Michael B. Clauer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
May 8, 2003

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has becn provided to Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
and will be retained by Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.
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